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Independent auditor’s report with respect to the Annual Accounts of the 
Transform Europe for the year ended 31 December 2020 

 

In accordance with our service contract dated 5 January 2021 with the European Union 
represented by the European Parliament, we report to you as independent auditor on the 
performance of our audit mandate which was entrusted to Grant Thornton 
Bedrijfsrevisoren CVBA. This report includes our opinion on the balance sheet as at 31 
December 2020, the income statement for the year ended 31 December 2020 and the 
disclosures (all elements together the "Annual Accounts”) using the abbreviated schedule 
and on the Final Statement of eligible expenditure actually incurred as well as on compliance 
with rules and regulations applicable to funding of European political parties and European 
political foundations and includes as well our report on regulatory requirements. These two 
reports are considered as one report and are inseparable.  

We have been appointed as independent auditor by the European Parliament in our contract 
dated 5 January 2021. Our mandate expires after the delivery of our audit opinion for the 
year ended 31 December 2021. 

Report on the audit of the Annual Accounts and the Final Statement of 
eligible expenditure actually incurred 

Unqualified opinion 

We have audited the Annual Accounts of Transform Europe (the "Entity"), that comprise 
the balance sheet on 31 December 2020, as well as the income statement of the year and the 
disclosures, which show a balance sheet total of € 284.778 and of which the income 
statement shows a profit for the year of € 6.805.  

In our opinion, the Annual Accounts give a true and fair view of the Entity’s net equity and 
financial position as at 31 December 2020, and of its results for the year then ended, 
prepared in accordance with the financial reporting framework applicable in Belgium, using 
the abbreviated schedule.  

We have also audited the Final Statement of eligible expenditure actually incurred for the 
year ended 31 December 2020, in accordance with rules and regulations applicable to 
funding of European political parties and European political foundations, of Transform 
Europe.  

In our opinion, the Final Statement of eligible expenditure actually incurred of the Entity for 
the year ended 31 December 2020 is prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with 
rules and regulations applicable to funding of European political parties and European 
political foundations. 
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Basis for the unqualified opinion  

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (“ISA”). 
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the “Our responsibilities 
for the audit of the Annual Accounts and the Final Statement of eligible expenditure actually 
incurred” section of our report.  

We have complied with all ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit, including 
those with respect of independence.  

We have obtained from the Members of the Board and the officials of the Entity the 
explanations and information necessary for the performance of our audit and we believe 
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion.  

Emphasis of Matter - Basis of Accounting and Restriction on Distribution  

We draw attention to the Final Statement of eligible expenditure actually incurred. This 
schedule is prepared to assist the Entity to meet the requirements of the European 
Parliament. As a result, the schedule may not be suitable for another purpose. Our opinion 
is not modified in respect of this matter. 

Emphasis of Matter - Going concern  

We draw your attention to the disclosure on page C-asbl 6.18 of to the Annual Accounts 
relating to the preparation of the Annual Accounts under the assumption that the activities 
will be continued, despite its financial position. This assumption is reasonable as long as the 
Entity continues to receive financial support from the European Parliament or other 
sources. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter. 

Other Matters 

We draw your attention to the developments surrounding the Covid-19 virus that has a 
profound impact on people's health and on society as a whole. This also has an impact on 
the operational and financial performance of organisations and the assessment of the 
Entity's ability to continue as a going concern. The situation gives rise to inherent 
uncertainty. The Entity has not made any disclosure of its assessment of the impact of 
Covid-19 in the Annual Accounts. We have considered the uncertainties related to the 
potential effects of Covid-19 and the assumptions made by the Entity in this respect on its 
operations and financial situation. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.  

On 31 January 2020, the United Kingdom withdrew from the European Union and the 
European Atomic Energy Community (EURATOM). Following intense negotiations, an 
agreement on future EU-UK relations was concluded end of December 2020. The Entity 
has not made any disclosure of its assessment of the impact of Brexit and the 
aforementioned agreement in the Annual Accounts. We have considered the uncertainties 
related to the potential effects of Brexit and the assumptions made by the Entity in this 
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respect on its operations and financial situation. Our opinion is not modified in respect of 
this matter.  

Responsibilities of the Members of the Board for the preparation of the Annual 

Accounts and the Final Statement of eligible expenditure actually incurred 

The Members of the Board are responsible for the preparation of the Annual Accounts that 
give a true and fair view in accordance with the reporting framework applicable in Belgium 
and the Final Statement of eligible expenditure actually incurred. This responsibility 
includes: designing, implementing and maintaining internal control which the Members of 
the Board determine to be necessary to enable the preparation of the Annual Accounts and 
the Final Statement of eligible expenditure actually incurred that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  

The Members of the Board are responsible towards the European Parliament for the use of 
the grant awarded and must comply with the provisions of the Regulation (EU, Euratom) 
No 1141/2014, Regulation (EU, Euratom) 2018/1046 ('the Financial Regulation') and the 
underlying acts.  

As part of the preparation of the Annual Accounts, the Members of the Board are 
responsible for assessing the Entity's ability to continue as a going concern, and provide, if 
applicable, information on matters impacting going concern. The Members of the Board 
should prepare the Annual Accounts using the going concern basis of accounting, unless the 
Members of the Board either intend to liquidate the Entity or to cease business operations, 
or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Our responsibilities for the audit of the Annual Accounts and the Final Statement of 

eligible expenditure actually incurred 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance whether the Annual Accounts and the 
Final Statement of eligible expenditure actually incurred are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error, and to express an opinion on these Annual Accounts and 
Final Statement of eligible expenditure actually incurred based on our audit. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with the ISA will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users 
taken on the basis of these Annual Accounts and the Final Statement of eligible expenditure 
actually incurred.  

When performing our audit, we comply with the legal, regulatory and normative framework 
that applies to the audit of the financial statements in Belgium. However, a statutory audit 
does not provide assurance as to the future viability of the Entity nor as to the efficiency or 
effectiveness with which the governing body has conducted or will conduct the Entity’s 
business. Our responsibilities regarding the assumption of going concern applied by the 
governing body are described below. 
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Furthermore, with respect to the Final Statement of eligible expenditure actually incurred, it 
is our responsibility to express an opinion on the compliance with rules and regulations 
applicable to funding of European political parties and European political foundations.  

As part of an audit, in accordance with ISA, we exercise professional judgment and we 
maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also perform the following tasks:  

 Identification and assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the Annual 
Accounts and the Final Statement of eligible expenditure actually incurred, whether due 
to fraud or error, the planning and execution of audit procedures to respond to these 
risks and obtain audit evidence which is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion. The risk of not detecting material misstatements is larger when these 
misstatements are due to fraud, since fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control; 

 Obtaining insight in the system of internal controls that are relevant for the audit and 
with the objective to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, 
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Entity's 
internal control; 

 Evaluating the selected and applied accounting policies, and evaluating the reasonability 
of the accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Members of the Board 
as well as the underlying information given by the Members of the Board;  

 Conclude on the appropriateness of the Members of the Board's use of the going 
concern basis of accounting, and based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a 
material uncertainty exists related to event or conditions that may cast significant doubt 
on the Entity's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related 
disclosures in the Annual Accounts or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our 
opinion. Our conclusions are based on audit evidence obtained up to the date of the 
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Entity to cease to 
continue as a going-concern; 

 Evaluating the overall presentation, structure and content of the Annual Accounts and 
the Final Statement of eligible expenditure actually incurred, and evaluating whether 
these Annual Accounts and the Final Statement of eligible expenditure actually incurred 
reflect a true and fair view of the underlying transactions and events. 

We communicate with the Members of the Board regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any 
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

Report on regulatory requirements 

Responsibilities of the Members of the Board 

The Members of the Board are responsible for the compliance by the Entity with the legal 
and regulatory requirements applicable in Belgium, its articles of association, the legal and 
regulatory requirements regarding bookkeeping and the provisions of the Grant Agreement 
between the European Parliament and the Entity (‘the Funding Agreement’), Regulation 
(EU, Euratom) No. 1141/2014, Regulation (EU, Euratom) 2018/1046 (‘the Financial 
Regulation’) and the underlying acts. 
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Responsibilities of the auditor 

Our audit work included specific procedures to gather sufficient and appropriate audit 
evidence to verify, in all material respects, that the financial provisions and obligations of the 
grant award agreement, Regulation (EU, Euratom) No 1141/2014, Regulation (EU, 
Euratom) 2018/1046 (‘the Financial Regulation’) and the underlying acts have been met. 

Independence matters 

We have not performed any other services that are not compatible with the audit of the 
Annual Accounts and the Final Statement of eligible expenditure actually incurred and we 
have remained independent of the Entity during the course of our mandate.  
 
Other communications 

 Without prejudice to certain formal aspects of minor importance, the accounting records 
were maintained in accordance with the legal and regulatory requirements applicable in 
Belgium; 

 The costs declared were actually incurred; 
 The statement of revenue is exhaustive;  
 The financial documents submitted by the entity to the European Parliament are 

consistent with the financial provisions of the Funding Agreement;  
 The obligations arising from Regulation (EU, Euratom) No 1141/2014, in particular 

from Article 20 thereof, have been met;  
 The obligations arising from the Funding Agreement, in particular from Article II.9 and 

Article II.19 thereof, have been met;  
 Any surplus of Union funding is carried over to the next financial year and has been used 

in the first quarter of that financial year, pursuant to Article 222(7) of the Financial 
Regulation; 

 Any surplus of own resources was transferred to the reserve;  
 We were not yet provided with the financial statements prepared in accordance with the 

international accounting standards defined in article 2 of regulation (EC) No 1606/2002. 
The financial statements prepared in accordance with the international accounting 
standards will be subject to a separate audit opinion. 

Vilvoorde, 23 September 2021 

Grant Thornton Bedrijfsrevisoren SCRL 

Represented by 

 

 

Gunther Loits 
Registered auditor
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Annex 1: Annual accounts 
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Independent auditor’s report on the Financial Statements in accordance 

with International Financial Reporting Standards of Transform Europe for 

the year ended 31 December 2020 

Unqualified opinion 

We have audited the Financial Statements of Transform Europe (the "Entity"), which 

comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2020, as well as the 

statement of profit or loss and the statement of comprehensive income for the year then 

ended, the statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then 

ended, and notes to the Financial Statements, including a summary of significant accounting 

policies.  

In our opinion, the accompanying Financial Statements give a true and fair view of the 

financial position of the Entity as at 31 December 2020, and its financial performance and 

its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting 

Standards (IFRS).  

Basis for unqualified opinion  

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISA). Our 

responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities 

for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the 

Entity in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the 

Financial Statements, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance 

with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 

and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  

Emphasis of Matter – Going concern 

We draw your attention to the disclosure on page 11 of the Financial Statements relating to 

the preparation of the Financial Statements under the assumption that the activities will be 

continued, despite its financial position. This assumption is reasonable as long as the Entity 

continues to receive financial support from the European Parliament or other sources. Our 

opinion is not modified in respect of this matter. 

Other Matters - Auditor's Opinion on the Annual Accounts and the Final Statement of 

eligible expenditure actually incurred 

We have also audited the Annual Accounts of the Entity prepared in accordance with the 

financial reporting framework applicable in Belgium and the Final Statement of eligible 

expenditure actually incurred, prepared in accordance with rules and regulations applicable 

to funding of political parties and political foundations at European level. In this regard, we 

have issued our audit report dated 23 September 2021. 
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Other Matters 

We draw your attention to the developments surrounding the Covid-19 virus that has a 

profound impact on people's health and on society as a whole. This also has an impact on 

the operational and financial performance of organisations and the assessment of the 

Entity's ability to continue as a going concern. The situation gives rise to inherent 

uncertainty. We have considered the uncertainties related to the potential effects of Covid-

19 and the assumptions made by the Entity in this respect on its operations and financial 

situation. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.  

On 31 January 2020, the United Kingdom withdrew from the European Union and the 

European Atomic Energy Community (EURATOM). Following intense negotiations, an 

agreement on future EU-UK relations was concluded end of December 2020.  We have 

considered the uncertainties related to the potential effects of Brexit and the assumptions 

made by the Entity in this respect on its operations and financial situation. Our opinion is 

not modified in respect of this matter. 

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors for the preparation of the Financial 

Statements 

The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the 

Financial Statements in accordance with IFRS, and for such internal control as the Board of 

Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of Financial Statements that are 

free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  

Pursuant to paragraph 1 of Article 23 of Regulation (EU, Euratom) No 1141/2014, the 

Entity is required to maintain and report on their Financial Statements on the basis of 

international accounting standards as defined in Article 2 of Regulation (EC) No 

1606/2002.  

In preparing the Financial Statements, the Board of Directors are responsible for assessing 

the Entity’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related 

to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless they either intend 

to liquidate the Entity or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

The Board of Directors are responsible for overseeing the Entity's financial reporting 

process. 

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the Financial Statements as 

a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 

auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, 

but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISA will always detect a 

material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 

considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 

influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these Financial Statements.  
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The audit has been performed following our appointment by the European Parliament, 

which seeks to obtain assurance relating to the Entity's adherence to its obligations under 

Article 23 of Regulation (EU, Euratom) No 1141/2004. 

As part of an audit in accordance with ISA, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 

professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:  

− Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the Financial Statements, 

whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those 

risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 

our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is 

higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 

intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.  

− Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design 

audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 

expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Entity's internal control.  

− Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 

accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Board of Directors.  

− Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of 

accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 

exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Entity's 

ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, 

we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the 

Financial Statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our 

conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's 

report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Entity to cease to continue 

as a going concern.  

− Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the Financial Statements, 

including the disclosures, and whether the Financial Statements represent the underlying 

transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

We communicate with the Board of Directors or their delegates regarding, among other 

matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including 

any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 
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Restriction on use and distribution  
 

The opinion transmitted is only intended for the Entity and for the European Parliament. It 
may not be distributed or made available to any other parties, except those who have 
regulatory rights of access to it. Any review, transmission, dissemination or other use of, or 
taking of any action in reliance upon this information by any persons or entities other than 
the Entity or the European Parliament is prohibited and we will not assume any duty of care 
or liability towards these persons or entities. 
 

Vilvoorde, 15 April 2022 

Grant Thornton Bedrijfsrevisoren SCRL 

Represented by 

 

 

Gunther Loits 

Registered auditor 
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Statement of financial position at 31 December 2020  

EUR Notes 31 December 2020 31 December 2019 

ASSETS    
    
Non-current assets    
Property, plant and equipment 9 134.294 164.492 
Trade and other receivables 12 570 570 
Total non-current assets  134.864 165.062 

    
Current assets    
Trade and other receivables 12 13.296 17.909 
Cash and cash equivalents 13 217.173 91.764 
Total current assets   230.470 109.673 

    
Total assets   365.334 274.735 

    
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES    
    
Equity     
Initial funds    
Reserves  (16.937) (16.937) 
Retained earnings  37.745 9.561 
Total equity   20.808  (7.376) 

    
Non-current liabilities    
Leasing liabilities 10 35.414 83.263 
Total non-current liabilities   35.414 83.263 

    
Current liabilities    
Trade and other payables 14 284.438 176.144 
Leasing liabilities 10 24.674 22.704 
Total current liabilities   309.112 198.848 

    
Total liabilities   344.526 282.111 

    
Total equity and liabilities   365.334 274.735 

 

The notes 1 to 15 are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Statement of profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2020 
 

EUR Notes 2020 2019 

Revenue from contracts with customers 4 1.700 1.900 
Other income 5 952.898 1.143.735 
Revenue  954.598 1.145.635 
General and administrative expenses 6 (974.106) (1.207.770) 
Other operating income/(expenses) 6 50.000 83.284 
Operating profit/(loss)   30.492 21.149 

Finance costs 7 (2.308) (2.211) 
Profit/(loss) for the year   28.184 18.938 

 

The notes 1 to 15 are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December 
2020  
 

EUR Notes 2020 2019 

Profit/(loss) for the year  28.184 18.938 

    

Other comprehensive income    
Other comprehensive income that may be reclassified to 
profit or loss in subsequent periods  - - 

Other comprehensive income that will not be reclassified 
to profit or loss in subsequent periods  - - 

Remeasurement gain/(loss) on defined benefit plans  - - 

    

Total comprehensive income for the year, net of tax   28.184 18.938 
The notes 1 to 15 are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Statement of changes in equity for the year ended 31 December 2020  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The notes 1 to 15 are an integral part of these financial statements. 

 

EUR 
Initial 
funds Reserves 

Retained 
earnings Total equity 

Balance at 1 January 2019 - (16.937) (9.377) (26.314) 

     
Profit/(loss) for the year   18.938 18.938 

Balance at 31 December 2019 - (16.937)  9.561 (7.376) 

     
Balance at 1 January 2020 - (16.937) 9.561 (7.376) 
     
Profit/(loss) for the year               28.184 28.184 

Balance at 31 December 2020 - (16.937) 37.745 (20.808) 



 
 
Statement of cash flows for the year ended 31 December 2020 
EUR Notes 2020 2019 
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES    
    
Profit/(loss) for the year  28.184 18.938 
Adjustments for:    
Finance costs 7 2.308 2.211 
Depreciation and impairment of property, plant and 
equipment 9 14.907 39.237 
European Parliament grant 5 -934.913 (1.107.191) 
Net profit/(loss) before changes in working capital   (889.514) (1.046.805)) 
    
Changes in working capital:    
Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables 13 3.437 39.209 
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables 16 -59.706 23.320 
Cash receipt/(reimbursement) European Parliament 
grant:    
Receipt of European Parliament grant 14 1.102.913 1.096.144 
Net cash flows from operating activities   157.130 111.868 

    
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES    
    
Purchases of property, plant and equipment 9 (4.567) (2.466) 
Net cash flows from investing activities   (4.567) (2.466) 

    
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES        
Interest paid bank overdrafts 5 -  
Interest paid on lease liabilities 5 (2.308) (2.211) 
Payments of lease liabilities 11 (24.846) -(22.463 
Net cash flows from financing activities   (27.154) (24.674) 

    
Movement in cash and cash equivalents including bank 
overdrafts   125.409 84.728 

    
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents   125.409 84.728 
Net foreign exchange difference    
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January   91.764  7.036 
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Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December   217.173  91.764 
The notes 1 to 15 are an integral part of these financial statements.  
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2020 

1. General information 
 
transform! europe is a non-profit-Foundation incorporated and domiciled in Belgium. The 
registered office is located at Square de Meeûs 25, B-1000 Bruxelles. The Foundation acts on 
political issues.  

Auditors 

The statutory audit of the standalone financial statements is performed by Grant Thornton 
Bedrijfsrevisoren CVBA, represented by Gunther Loits. 

Financial statements 

The financial statements as of and for the year ended 31 December 2020 were authorized for issue 
in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors on 20 April 2022. 

Figures in the financial statements 

These financial statements are presented in euro, which is the Foundation’s presentation currency 
and the functional currency of the Foundation. All amounts in these financial statements are 
presented in euro, unless otherwise stated. 

Board of directors 

At the end of the financial period, the Board of Directors was composed of the following members: 

Name Function Start of mandate End of mandate 

Walter Baier Member 25.09.2020 23.09.2022 

Czeslaw Kulesca Member 25.09.2020 23.09.2022 

Sam Carlshamre Member 25.09.2020 23.09.2022 

Barbara Steiner Political Coordinator 25.09.2022 23.09.2022 

Cornelia Hildebrandt Co-President 25.09.2020 23.09.2022 

Danai Koltsida Member 25.09.2020 23.09.2022 

Yann Le Lann Member 25.09.2020 23.09.2022 
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Jiri Malek Member 25.09.2020 23.09.2022 

Hugo Monteiro Member 25.09.2020 23.09.2022 

Roberto Morea Member 25.09.2020 23.09.2022 

Jukka Pietiläinen Member 25.09.2020 23.09.2022 

Marga Ferre Co-President 25.09.2020 23.09.2022 

Roberto Musacchio Member 25.09.2020 23.09.2022 

 

2. Significant accounting policies 
 
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set 
out below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless 
otherwise stated. 

2.1. Basis of preparation 

The financial statements of the Foundation for the year ended 31 December 2020 have been 
prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) and IFRS 
Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) interpretations as endorsed by the European Union 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical 
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgment in the process of 
applying the Foundation’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgment or 
complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements 
are disclosed in note 3. 

Going concern 
The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis on the directors’ confidence 
that the Foundation will continue to receive the European Parliament Grant and also generate 
other own resources. The historical cost convention and the accrual basis of accounting have been 
used to prepare the financial statements. 
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2.2. Summary of significant accounting policies 

a) Current versus non-current classification 

The Foundation presents assets and liabilities in the statement of financial position based on 
current/non-current classification. An asset is current when it is: 

• Expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed in the normal operating cycle, 
meaning within a calendar year, 

• Expected to be realised within twelve months after the reporting period, or 
• Cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability 

for at least twelve months after the reporting period. 

All other assets are classified as non-current. 

A liability is current when: 

• It is expected to be settled in the normal operating cycle, 
• It is held primarily for the purpose of trading, 
• It is due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period, or 
• There is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least twelve 

months after the reporting period. 

The Foundation classifies all other liabilities as non-current. 

b) Foreign currencies 

Functional and presentation currency 

Items included in the financial statements of the Foundation are measured using the currency of 
the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (“the functional currency”). The 
financial statements are presented in euro (EUR), which is the Foundation’s presentation currency 
and the functional currency of the Foundation. 

Transactions and balances 

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded by the Foundation at their respective 
functional currency spot rates at the date the transaction first qualifies for recognition. Monetary 
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency 
spot rates of exchange at the reporting date.  

The Foundation has limited transactions in foreign currency, therefore the foreign exchange risk is 
not considered to have a significant impact on the profit before tax and pre-tax equity. 
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Exchange rates used in the financial statements 

Items included in the financial statements of the Foundation are measured using the currency of 
the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (“the functional currency”). The 
financial statements are presented in euro (EUR), which is the Foundation’s presentation currency 
and the functional currency of the Foundation. 

c) Intangible assets 

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. Following initial 
recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortization and 
accumulated impairment losses. Internally generated intangibles, excluding capitalized 
development costs, are not capitalized and the related expenditure is reflected in profit or loss in 
the period in which the expenditure is incurred. 

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed as finite. The Foundation does not have any 
intangible assets with an indefinite useful life. 

Intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortized over the useful economic life and assessed 
for impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The 
amortization period and the amortization method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life 
are reviewed at least at the end of each reporting period. Changes in the expected useful life or 
the expected pattern of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the asset are 
considered to modify the amortization period or method, as appropriate, and are treated as 
changes in accounting estimates. The amortization expense on intangible assets with finite useful 
lives is recognized in the income statement in the expense category that is consistent with the 
function of the intangible assets.  

An intangible asset is derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are 
expected from its use or disposal. Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset 
are measured as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the 
asset and are recognized in the income statement when the asset is derecognized. 

  



transform! europe – Financial statements as of and for the year ended 31 December 2020 
 

Page 14 of 39 
 

Website costs 

Research costs are expensed as incurred. Website development costs are only recognized as 
intangible asset if: 1/ it can be demonstrated that the website will generate probable future 
economic benefits when, for example, donations can be made through the website and 2/ the 
Foundation can demonstrate: 

ü The technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that the asset will be available 
for use or sale;  

ü Its intention to complete and its ability and intention to use or sell the asset;  

ü How the asset will generate future economic benefits;  

ü The availability of resources to complete the asset; and 

ü The ability to measure reliably the expenditure during development. 

 
Directly attributable costs that are capitalized as part of the intangible asset include costs incurred 
for external consultants and an appropriate portion of relevant overheads. 
 
Other development expenditures that do not meet these criteria are recognized as an expense as 
incurred. Development costs previously recognized as an expense are not recognized as an asset 
in a subsequent period. 
 
Following initial recognition of the development expenditure as an asset, the asset is carried at 
cost less any accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses. Amortization will 
begin when development is completed and the asset is available for use. The costs are amortized 
using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives (4 years). During the period of 
development, the asset is tested for impairment annually. 
 

d) Property, plant and equipment 

The Foundation’s property, plant and equipment are mainly composed of IT equipment, furniture, 
office equipment, leasehold improvements and right-of-use assets relating to lease contract of  
offices, vehicles and IT equipment.  
 
Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less subsequent depreciation and 
impairment. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of 
the items. 
 
Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognized as a separate asset, as 
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will 
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flow to the Foundation and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of 
the replaced part is derecognized. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the income 
statement during the financial period in which they are incurred. 
 
Depreciation on the assets is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their cost over 
their estimated useful lives. These useful lives have been determined as follows: 
 

Furniture and material 1-10 years 
Leasehold improvements The shorter of the lease term and the asset’s  

economic life 
 
The methods of depreciation of property, plant and equipment are reviewed at each financial year-
end and adjusted prospectively, if appropriate. Where an asset’s carrying amount is greater than 
its estimated recoverable amount, it is written down to its recoverable amount. 
 
An item of property, plant and equipment and any significant part initially recognized is 
derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or 
disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference 
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in the income 
statement when the asset is derecognized. 

e) European Parliament grants 

The Party receives a grant from the European Parliament, which is awarded at the beginning of 
each accounting year since January 1st, 2019, whereas before it was most of the time awarded at 
the end of the prior accounting year. At this moment there is a reasonable assurance that the grant 
will be received and all attached conditions (execution of the work plan) will be complied with. 
Since the grant relates to expense items, it is recognized as income on a systematic basis over the 
periods that the related costs, for which it is intended to compensate, are expensed.  
 
The Foundation makes an assessment at the end of the accounting year of the amount of eligible 
expenditure it has incurred. The portion of the grant that will cover this expenditure is recorded at 
as income in the income statement. Two scenario can occur: 

• Scenario 1 in which the amount of eligible expenditure matches the grant amount or 
exceeds the grant amount. In this scenario, the entire grant is recorded as income in the 
income statement,  

 
 

• Scenario 2 in which the amount of eligible expenditure is less than the grant amount. In this 
scenario, the portion of the grant that is not used can be carried over to the next year. The 
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amount of the carry-over will be accounted for as a liability in the balance sheet and will be 
released the next accounting year once the expenditure it is intended to cover has been 
incurred. 

 
At the end of the reporting period, the final balance is determined after the external audit. The 
expenditure that is rejected through this audit may lead to a reduction of the final grant and can 
result in a reimbursement of a portion of the grant by the political foundation to the European 
Parliament. After payment of the final balance, the European Parliament can as well perform an 
audit even up till 5 years after the payment. This audit can also lead to a reduction of the grant 
amount and a reimbursement. If the Foundation has to make a reimbursement to the European 
Parliament, the Foundation needs to account for a liability. 

f) Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and short-term deposits in the statement of financial position comprise cash at banks and on 
hand and short-term deposits with a maturity of three months or less, which are subject to an 
insignificant risk of changes in value. 
 
For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and 
short-term deposits, as defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts as they are considered 
an integral part of the Foundation’s cash management. 

g) Financial instruments 

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial 
liability or equity instrument of another entity. 

Financial assets 

Initial recognition and measurement 

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently measured at amortised cost, 
fair value through other comprehensive income (OCI), and fair value through profit or loss. The 
Foundation’s financial assets are composed of trade and other receivables and cash and cash 
equivalents. These financial assets have been classified as subsequently measured at amortised 
cost, except for cash and cash equivalents. 

The trade receivables do not contain a significant financing component and have been initially 
measured at the transaction price determined under IFRS 15. The cash and cash equivalents have 
been initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs. 
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Subsequent measurement 

For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial assets are classified in three categories: 

• Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments), 
• Financial assets at fair value through OCI with recycling of cumulative gains and losses (debt 

instruments), or with no recycling of cumulative gains and losses upon derecognition 
(equity instruments), 

• Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. 

The Foundation’s financial assets are classified as financial assets at amortised cost (debt 
instruments) since both of the following conditions are met: 

• The financial asset is held within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets 
in order to collect contractual cash flows, and 

• The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that 
are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding 

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest (EIR) 
method and are subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the 
asset is derecognised, modified or impaired. 

The financial assets are derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have 
expired. 

In terms of impairment of the trade receivables, the Foundation applies a simplified approach in 
calculating Expected Credit Losses (ECL). The Foundation does not track changes in credit risk, but 
instead recognizes a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. A provision 
matrix that is based on historical credit loss experience has been established, which is adjusted for 
forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment. 

All financial assets are fully written off after two years when there is no reasonable expectation of 
recovering the contractual cash flows. However, in certain cases, the Foundation may also consider 
a financial asset to be in default when internal or external information indicates that the 
Foundation is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full. 
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Financial liabilities 

Initial recognition and measurement 

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value through 
profit or loss, loans and borrowings, payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments 
in an effective hedge, as appropriate. All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, 
in the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly attributable transaction costs. 

The Foundation’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables and loans and borrowings 
including bank overdrafts. 

Subsequent measurement 

The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification. The Foundation’s financial 
liabilities are all classified in the category loans and borrowings, or the category payables. 

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost using the EIR method. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the 
liabilities are derecognised as well as through the EIR amortisation process.  

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and 
fees or costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation is included as finance costs 
in the statement of profit or loss.  

The financial liabilities are derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged or 
cancelled or expires. 

Offsetting financial instruments: 

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the balance sheet when 
there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognized amounts and there is an intention to 
settle on a net basis or realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The Foundation does 
not offset its financial assets and liabilities. 

h) Impairment of non-financial assets 

The Foundation assesses, at each reporting date, whether there is an indication that an asset may 
be impaired. If any indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, 
the Foundation estimates the asset’s recoverable amount. An asset’s recoverable amount is the 
higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. When the carrying amount 
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down 
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to its recoverable amount. Non-financial assets that suffered impairment are reviewed for possible 
reversal of the impairment at each reporting date. 
 
There were no indications that assets may be impaired during the accounting period. Moreover, 
the Foundation does not have intangible assets that are not ready to use or are not subject to 
amortization. As a result, there is no requirement to perform a yearly impairment test. 

i) Provisions for other liabilities and charges 

A provision is recognized when the Foundation has a present obligation (legal or constructive) 
where, as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic 
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount 
of the obligation. When the Foundation expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, for 
example, under an insurance contract, the reimbursement is recognized as a separate asset, but 
only when the reimbursement is virtually certain. The expense relating to  
a provision is presented in the statement of profit or loss net of any reimbursement. 

If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre-
tax rate that reflects, when appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. When discounting is used, 
the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognized as a finance cost. 

j) Leases – lessee accounting 

The Foundation assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. That is, 
if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in 
exchange for consideration. 

The Foundation leases office workspace and marginal IT equipment. The Foundation applied a 
single recognition and measurement approach for all leases for which it is the lessee. The 
Foundation recognised lease liabilities and right-of-use assets representing the right to use the 
underlying assets. In accordance with IFRS 16, the simplified modified retrospective method has 
been applied for the transition to IFRS 16 at the date of initial application of 1 January 2019. 

Lease liabilities 

At the commencement date of the lease, the Foundation recognises lease liabilities measured at 
the present value of lease payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments include 
fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable, 
variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be payable 
under residual value guarantees. The lease payments also include the exercise price of a purchase 
option if reasonably certain to be exercised by the Foundation and payments of penalties for 
terminating a lease, if the lease term reflects the Foundation exercising the option to terminate. 
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Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised as expense in the 
period in which the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs. 

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Foundation uses the incremental borrowing 
rate at the lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily 
determinable. After the commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect 
the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying 
amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease term, a 
change in the in-substance fixed lease payments or a change in the assessment to purchase the 
underlying asset.  

The Foundation selected the accounting policy to present interest paid on lease liabilities as part 
of the cash flows for financing activities. 

Right-of-use assets 

The Foundation recognises right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e., the 
date the underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any 
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease 
liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of initial measurement of the lease 
liability, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the commencement 
date less any lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis 
over the shorter of the lease term and the estimated useful lives of the assets, as follows: 

Underlying assets Depreciation period 
Vienna office 5 years 
Brussels office 5 years 
Rome office 6 years 

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Foundation at the end of the lease term, or the 
cost reflects the exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated 
useful live of the asset. 

The right-of-use assets are also subject to impairment. Refer to the accounting policies in section 
re ‘Impairment of non-financial assets’. 

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets 

The Foundation applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-term leases of 
machinery and equipment (i.e., those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the 
commencement date and do not contain a purchase option). It also applies the lease of low-value 
assets recognition exemption to leases of office equipment that are considered to be low value. 
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Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised as expense on 
a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

The information about leases is included in the following notes: 

Depreciation charges on right-of-use assets Note 6 Expense by nature 
Interest expense on lease liabilities Note 7 Finance income and costs  
Right of use assets movement Note 9 Property, plant and equipment 
Lease liabilities movement Note 10 Financial assets and financial liabilities 

 

k) Revenue from contracts with customers 

IFRS 15 establishes a five-step model for recognizing revenue from contracts with customers. 
Under IFRS 15, revenue is recognized for the amount of consideration an entity expects to be 
entitled to in exchange for goods or services transferred to a customer.  

The Membership Fees are ruled in the articles of association §7. Membership fees are fixed in euro; 
they are payable without deduction of incurred costs, and are adjusted annually in line with Belgian 
inflation. The Fees are paid annually in advance, falling due on 1 January each year. The annual fee 
is € 100. As such the revenue that is recorded 31 December equals the membership fees received 
for the respective year. 

In line with the IFRS requirements the Company will cease to account for revenue when the 
collectability criterion is no longer met. 
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2.3. Changes in accounting policies and disclosures  
The Foundation applied IFRS 16 Leases for as from 1 January 2019. The nature and effect of the 
changes as a result of adoption of this new accounting standard is described below. 

Several other amendments and interpretations apply for the first time in 2020, but do not have an 
impact on the financial statements of the Foundation. The Foundation has not early adopted any 
standards, interpretations or amendments that have been issued but are not yet effective. 

IFRS 16 Leases  

IFRS 16 was issued in January 2016 and supersedes IAS 17 Leases, IFRIC 4 Determining whether an 
Arrangement contains a Lease, SIC-15 Operating Leases-Incentives and SIC-27 Evaluating the 
Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease. IFRS 16 sets out the principles for 
the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases and requires lessees to 
recognise most leases on the balance sheet.  

The Foundation adopted IFRS 16 using the modified retrospective method with the date of initial 
application of 1 January 2019. Under this method, the standard is applied retrospectively with the 
cumulative effect of initially applying the standard recognised at the date of initial application. The 
Foundation elected to apply the standard only to contracts that were previously identified as leases 
applying IAS 17 and IFRIC 4. The Foundation will therefore not apply the standard to contracts that 
were not previously identified as containing a lease applying IAS 17 and IFRIC 4. The Foundation 
also elected to use the exemptions on lease contracts for which the lease terms ends within 12 
months as of the date of initial application, and lease contracts for which the underlying asset is of 
low value.  

The Foundation leases certain office equipment (i.e., a printing machine) which is considered of 
low value.  

The Foundation mainly leases office workspaces that are accounted for in accordance with IFRS 16 
as from 1 January 2019 and were previously accounted for as operating leases under IAS 17.  
 
The Foundation recognised right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for those leases previously 
classified as operating leases, except for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets. The 
right-of-use assets were recognised based on the amount equal to the lease liabilities, adjusted for 
any related prepaid and accrued lease payments previously recognised. Lease liabilities were 
recognised based on the present value of the remaining lease payments, discounted using the 
incremental borrowing rate at the date of initial application or the interest rate implicit in the lease 
when available. 
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The Foundation also applied the available practical expedients wherein it:  

• Applied the short-term leases exemptions to leases with lease term that ends within 12 
months of the date of initial application  

• Applied the low value exemption to leases for which the underlying assets value is lower 
than 5.000 EUR 

• Excluded the initial direct costs from the measurement of the right-of-use asset at the date 
of initial application  

• Used hindsight in determining the lease term where the contract contained options to 
extend or terminate the lease 

2.4. Standards issued but not yet effective 
The new and amended standards and interpretations that are issued, but not yet effective, up to 
the date of issuance of the Foundation’s financial statements are disclosed below. The Foundation 
intends to adopt these standards and interpretations, if applicable, when they become effective. 

• Amendments to IFRS 9 Financial Instruments and IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures 
- Interest Rate Benchmark Reform, effective 1 January 2020 

• Amendments to IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and measurement and IFRS 7 
Financial Instruments: Disclosures - Interest Rate Benchmark Reform, effective 1 January 
2020 

• IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts, effective 1 January 2021 
• Amendments to IAS 1 - Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-Current, effective 1 

January 2022 
• Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2 – Disclosure of Accounting Policies, 

effective 1 January 2023 
• Amendments to IAS 8 – Definition of Accounting Estimates, effective 1 January 2023 
• Amendments to IFRS 16 – Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 2021, 

effective 1 April 2021 
• Amendments to IFRS 1 – Deferred Tax Related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single 

Transaction, effective 1 January 2023 
• Amendments to IFRS 4: Insurance Contracts - deferral of IFRS 9: applicable for annual 

periods beginning on or after January 1, 2021. 
• Amendments to IAS 16: Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before Intended Use: 

applicable for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2022. 
• Amendments to IAS 37: Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets: Onerous 

Contracts - Cost of Fulfilling a Contract: applicable for annual periods beginning on or after 
January 1, 2022. 

• Amendments to IFRS 3: Business Combinations: Reference to the Conceptual Framework: 
applicable for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2022. 
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• Annual improvements to IFRS Standards (2018 - 2020 cycle): applicable for annual periods 
beginning on or after January 1, 2022. 
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3. Critical accounting estimates and judgments 
 
The preparation of the Foundation’s financial statements requires management to make 
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, 
assets and liabilities, and the accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities. 
Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that require a 
material adjustment to the carrying amount of asset or liability affected in future periods. 
 
Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and 
other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances. 
 
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the 
reporting date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts 
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are described below. The Foundation based 
its assumptions and estimates on parameters available when the financial statements were 
prepared. Existing circumstances and assumptions about future developments, however, may 
change due to market changes or circumstances arising beyond the control of the Foundation. 
Such changes are reflected in the assumptions when they occur. 
 
Determining the lease term of contracts with renewal options 

The Foundation determines the lease term as the non-cancellable term of the lease, together with 
any periods covered by an option to extend the lease if it is reasonably certain to be exercised, or 
any periods covered by an option to terminate the lease, if it is reasonably certain not to be 
exercised. For extension options, the Foundation applies judgement in evaluating whether it is 
reasonably certain to exercise the option to renew. That is, it considers all relevant factors that 
create an economic incentive for it to exercise the renewal.  

After the commencement date, the Foundation reassesses the lease term if there is a significant 
event or change in circumstances that is within its control and affects its ability to exercise (or not 
to exercise) the option to renew (e.g., a change in business strategy). 
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Recovery order European Parliament Grant 

The external auditor and/or auditor of the European Parliament can reject expenditure of the 
Foundation if not eligible. This can result in a recovery order being issued to the Foundation and 
hence a reimbursement of a portion of the grant. If this is the case, the Foundation sets up a liability 
at year end. In December 2020 this provisions liability amounts to EUR 0 (2019: EUR 0). 
 

4. Revenue from contracts with customers 
 
The line item “Revenue from contracts with customers” in the income statement relates to: 

EUR 2020 2019 
Type of revenue   
Membership fees:   
- From associate members 1.700 1.900 
Total revenue from contracts with customers   
Geographical market   
Membership fees:   
- From Italy 100 200 

- From Poland 100 100 

- From Others 1.500 1.600 

Total revenue from contracts with customers 1.700 1.900 

 
The revenue of the membership fees is recorded over time as the service is delivered throughout 
the year. The trade receivables amount to € 0,00 at 31 December 2020 (€ 1.909 in 2019). These 
receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on terms of 1 to 90 days.  
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5. Other income 
 
The line item “Other income” in the income statement relates to: 

 
EUR 2020 2019 
Other income   
European Parliament Grant 1.102.913 1.096.144 
EP Carry-over -168.000 11.047 
Donations:   
- Above EUR 500 17.034 31.437 
- Below EUR 500 951 5.107 
Total other income 952.898 1.143.735 

 
 

6. Expenses by nature and other operating income 
 

A breakdown of the “General and administrative expenses” by nature can be found in the table 
below: 

EUR  2020 2019 

Research and development costs 406.546 376.468 

Wages and salaries 348.292 322.315 

Event costs 40.329 229.429 

Meetings and representation costs 28.980 103.444 

Social security costs 74.665 59.494 

Office cost 35.264 32.967 

Other personnel costs 19.252 27.741 

Depreciation on right of use - offices  23.349 

Depreciation property, plant and equipment 11.441 15.888 

Rent 7.962 8.216 

Other 1.375 8.458 

Total 974.106 1.207.770 
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A breakdown of the “Other operating income/(expenses) - net” by nature can be found in the table 
below. The income is presented with a negative sign and the expenses are presented with a 
positive sign. 

   2020 2019 

EUR 

Other operating 
(income) 

Other operating 
expenses 

Other operating 
(income) 

Other operating 
expenses 

Contribution in kind - -  - 
Cooperation agreements 
with partners (50.000) - (84.284) - 
Rewards of contest study 
papers - - -  

Other (income)/expense -  - 1.000 

Total -50.000  -84.284 1.000 
 

 

7. Finance income and costs 
  

EUR 2020 2019 

Finance costs   

Interest expense on bank overdrafts -  

Interest on lease liabilities 1.970 2.211 

Total finance costs 1.970 2.211 
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8. Employee benefit expense 
    2020 2019 

EUR 

Included in 
General and 

administrative 
expenses 

Included in Other 
operating 

income/expenses 

Included in 
General and 

administrative 
expenses 

Included in Other 
operating 

income/expenses 

Wages and salaries 348.292 - 322.315 - 

Social security costs 74.665 - 59.494 - 
Employer related costs 19.252 - 27.741 - 

Total employee benefit expense 442.209 - 409.550 - 
 

  2020 2019 
Average number of employees - head office 11 9 

Total average number of employees 11 9 
 

9. Property, plant and equipment 

 EUR  
Furniture 

and material 
Leasehold 

improvements 
Right-of-

use offices Total 

 
     

Period ended 31 December 2019      

Initial application of IFRS 16 as of 
1 January 2019 

 - - 128.430 128.430 

Additions  2.466 - - 2.466 

Disposals  - - - - 

Closing Cost or Valuation at 31 
December 2019  98.245 27.927 128.430 254.602 

      
Accumulated depreciation on 
disposals 

 - - - - 

Depreciation charge for the year  (12.970) (2.918) (23.349) (39.237) 
Closing Accumulated 
depreciation, impairments and 
other adjustments at 31 
December 2019 

 -54.771 -11.990 -23.349 -90.110 

 
     

Closing net book value at 31 
December 2019 

 43.474 15.937 105.081 164.492 
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Period ended 31 December 2020      

Initial application of IFRS 16 as of 
1 January 2020 

 - -   

Additions  4.567 - - 4.567 

Disposals  - - - - 

Closing Cost or Valuation at 31 
December 2020  102.812 27.927 128.430 259.169 

      
Accumulated depreciation on 
disposals  - - - - 

Depreciation charge for the year  (8.631) (2.918) (23.349) (34.898) 
Closing Accumulated 
depreciation, impairments and 
other adjustments at 31 
December 2020 

 -63.402 -14.908 -46.698 -125.008 

 
     

Closing net book value at 31 
December 2020  39.410 13.019 81.732 134.294 

 

 

The actual additions concern to the purchase of a new notebooks, a desk and lights.  

The Foundation has lease contracts for offices. Leases have lease terms of 5-6 years. 

The Foundation has also a certain lease of a printing machine with low value. The Foundation 
applies the ‘lease of low-value assets’ recognition exemption for this lease.  
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10. Financial assets and financial liabilities 

a) Financial assets 

Financial assets 31 December 2020 31 December 2019 
 EUR EUR 
Debt instruments at amortised cost   
Trade and other receivables (Note 12) 13.866 18.479 
Total financial assets  13.866 18.479 
   
Total current  13.296 17.909 
Total non-current 570 570 

 

b) Financial liabilities: Borrowings 

 
Financial Liabilities 31 December 2020 31 December 2019 
 EUR EUR 

Other financial liabilities at amortised cost, 
other than interest-bearing loans and 
borrowings 

  

Trade and other payables (Note 14) 284.438 176.144 
European Parliament grant -  
Total other financial liabilities 284.438 176.144 
Total current  284.438 176.144 
Total non-current   

 

 
Interest rate Maturity 

31 
December 

2020 

31 
December 

2019 
 %  EUR EUR 

Current interest-bearing loans  
and borrowings     
Leasing liabilities 2,08% 2021 24.674 22.704 
Total current interest-bearing loans  
and borrowings   24.674 22.704 
     
Non-current interest-bearing loans  
and borrowings     
Leasing liabilities 2,08% 2021-2024 35.414 83.263 
Total non-current interest-bearing  
loans and borrowings   35.414 83.263 
Total interest-bearing loans  
and borrowings    60.088 105.967 
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c) Fair Values 

Set out below is a comparison, by class, of the carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s 
financial instruments: 

 31 December 2020 31 December 2019 

 Carrying 
amount 

Fair 
value 

Carrying 
amount Fair value 

 EUR EUR EUR EUR 
Financial assets     

Trade receivables 13.866 13.866 18.479 18.479 
Total 13.866 13.866 18.479 18.479 
Financial liabilities     

Leasing liabilities 60.088 60.088 105.967 105.967 
Trade and other payables 284.438 284.438 176.144 176.144 

Total 288.111 282.111 282.111 282.111 

 

The Party has mainly short term financial assets and financial liabilities for which the carrying 
amount is a reasonable approximation of the fair value. Moreover the carrying amount of leasing 
liabilities is also a reasonable approximation of the fair value. 

11. Financial risk management 

a) Financial risk factors 

 
The Foundation’s principal financial liabilities comprise trade and other payables. The main 
purpose of these liabilities is to finance the Foundation’s operations. The Foundation’s principal 
financial assets include trade receivables, and cash and short term deposits that derive directly 
from its operations. The Foundation is exposed primarily to market risk, currency risk and liquidity 
risk, whereas these risks are insignificant. Foundation’s managers oversee the management of 
these risks. 

The Foundation’s overall risk management program focuses on the unpredictability of financial 
markets and seeks to minimize potential adverse effects on the Foundation’s financial 
performance. The objective is to identify, quantify, manage and then monitor events or actions 
that could lead to financial losses.  

Credit risk 
 
Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet its obligations under a financial instrument 
or customer contract, leading to a financial loss. The Foundation is exposed to credit risk from its 
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operating activities (primarily trade receivables) and from its financing activities, including deposits 
with banks and financial institutions. 

Credit risk from operating activities 

The trade receivables balance contain the member foundation contributions to be received. The 
impairment policy of the Foundation is to write-off receivables as soon as they remain unpaid for 
two years. When members are excluded, the related receivable is often waived and written-off. 

For its receivables, the Foundation has policies to ensure that her receivables on member parties 
or members are closely monitored by the finance department. Credit quality of a customer is 
assessed based on an extensive credit rating scorecard and individual credit limits are defined in 
accordance with this assessment.  
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An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using a provision matrix to measure 
expected credit losses. The provision rates are based on days past due for groups of various 
customer segments with similar loss patterns (i.e. customer type and rating, and coverage by 
letters of credit or other forms of credit insurance). The calculation reflects the probability-
weighted outcome, the time value of money and reasonable and supportable information that is 
available at the reporting date about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future 
economic conditions. Generally, trade receivables are written-off if past due for more than two 
years and are not subject to enforcement activity. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the 
reporting date is the carrying value of each class of financial assets disclosed in Note 12. The 
Foundation does not hold collateral as security. 

The Foundation has no historic of credit loss on trade receivables, therefore no exposure to 
expected credit losses. 

Credit risk from financing activities 

Credit risk from balances with banks and financial institutions is managed by the Foundation’s 
finance department in accordance with the Foundation’s policy. The Foundation’s maximum 
exposure to credit risk for the components of the statement of financial position at 31 December 
2020 and 2019 is the carrying amounts as illustrated in Note 13. 
 
Liquidity risk 
The Foundation monitors its risk of a shortage of funds using a liquidity planning tool. The amounts 
disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.  
 

  

At 31 December 2020 (EUR) 
Less than 1 

year 
Between 1 

and 2 years 
Between 2 

and 5 years Over 5 years Total 
Trade and other payables 284.438 - - - 284.438 
Leasing liabilities 24.675 24.675 10.738  60.088 

      

At 31 December 2019 (EUR) 
Less than 1 

year 
Between 1 

and 2 years 
Between 2 

and 5 years Over 5 years Total 

Trade and other payables 176.144 - - - 176.144 
Leasing Liabilites 24.674 24.674 61.730  111.079 
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Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities are shown in the table below: 

 
1 January 

2020 
Cash 

outflows Cash inflows Other 

31 
December 

2020 
 EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR 

Current leasing liabilities  - (24.674) - 49.348 24.674 

Non-current leasing liabilities  - - - 35.414 35.414 

Total liabilities from financing 
activities 

- (24.674) - 84.762 60.088 
 

 
1 January 

2019 Cash flows 

31 
December 

2019 
 EUR EUR EUR 

Current interest-bearing loans and 
borrowings (excluding items listed 
below) 

0 0 0- 

Total liabilities from financing 
activities 

0 0 0- 
 

b) Capital management 

 
The Foundation’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Foundation’s ability to 
continue as a going concern: 

EUR 31 December 2020 31 December 2019 

Cash and cash equivalents - note 13 217.173 91.764 

Net cash 217.173 7.036 
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12. Trade and other receivables 
 
EUR 31 December 2020 31 December 2019 
Trade receivables 0 1.909 

Trade receivables - net 0 1.909 

Accrued income and deferred charges 13.296 16.000 

Other receivables 570 570 

Total trade and other receivables 13.866 18.479 

Non-current portion 570 570 

Current portion 13.296 17.909 

 
The ageing of the trade receivables is as below: 

 Days past due 
31 December 2020 

Current <30 days 30–60 days 61–90 days >91 days Total 
 EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR 

Total gross carrying amount 
at default 13.296  - -  13.296 

31 December 2019 
Current <30 days 30–60 days 61–90 days >91 days Total 

 EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR 

Total gross carrying amount at 
default  1.809   100 1.909 
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13. Cash and cash equivalents 
 

 EUR 31 December 2020 31 December 2019 
Cash at banks and on hand 217.173 91.764 

Total cash and cash equivalents (excluding 
bank overdrafts) 217.173 91.764 

 

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. Short-term deposits 
are made for varying periods of between one day and three months, depending on the immediate 
cash requirements of the Foundation, and earn interest at the respective short-term deposit rates.  

Cash and cash equivalents include the following for the purposes of the statement of cash flows: 

EUR 31 December 2020 31 December 2019 
Cash and cash equivalents 217.173 91.764 

Bank overdrafts - - 

Cash and cash equivalents (including bank 
overdrafts) 217.173 91.764 
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14. Trade and other payables 
 
EUR 31 December 2020 31 December 2019 

Trade payables 108.333 129.500 
Social security and other taxes 8.105 46.644 

European Parliament Grant - - 
Accrued expenses and deferred 
income 

168.000 - 

Total Trade and other payables 284.438 176.144 

   

Non-current portion   

Current portion 284.438 176.144 
 
The trade and other payables of the Foundation are current financial liabilities and are non-interest 
bearing and are normally settled on 30 day terms. 
 
The movement of the European Parliament Grant of the period is further detailed in the table 
below: 
 

 31 December 2020 31 December 2019 
At 1 January  11.047 
Release grant into statement of profit or 
loss -1.102.913 -1.096.144 
Grant carried-over 2019 0 -11.047 
Grant awarded 1.102.913 1.096.144 
Grant carried-over 2020 168.000  
At 31 December 168.000 - 

 

15. Events after the reporting date 
 

1) COVID-19 Crisis: 

The coronavirus outbreak has had huge impacts on the EU economy. In response to the pandemic 
worldwide spread, many governments in affected jurisdictions imposed travel bans, quarantines 
and other emergency public safety measures. For example, governments have imposed 
restrictions on travel and the movement and gathering of people. The outbreak of the coronavirus 
did not require any adjustments to the figures reported in these annual accounts.  

For subsequent reporting periods, COVID-19 may affect the recognition and measurement of some 
assets and liabilities on the balance sheet and also of some revenue and expenses recognised in 
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the statement of financial performance. For example, some planned events and meetings were 
cancelled, and revenues from external sources has decreased. The impact of these, among others 
effects, on the financial performance may be significant for the reporting year 2021. Based on the 
information available at the date of signature of these annual accounts, the further financial effects 
of the coronavirus outbreak cannot be reliably estimated. The situation gives rise to uncertainty 
on the ability of the entity to continue as a going concern.  The Board is evaluating the possible 
measures to combat the outbreak of activities and to sustain our going concern. 

 

2) Brexit: 

On 31 January 2020, the United Kingdom withdrew from the European Union. At present, 
negotiations for a new partnership with the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland 
are still ongoing. The Foundation estimates that this event will not have a significant impact on the 
operations and financial situation of the entity.  

 

15.04.2022 Cornelia Hildebrandt, Co-President

15.04.2022 Marga Ferré, Co-President
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1.           The media and publication activities 

  

Released Texts and 

Newsletters 

  

Over 360 texts released (Blog, Focus 

sections, calendar announcements) (EN) 

  

with approx. 420 translations (German, 

French, Spanish, Greek, Italian) 

 

 

8 regular and 4 special newsletters 

(dedicated to: Memory Politics 2019, Greek 

Refugee Camps and the Covid-19 crisis, 

transform! europe Webinars, Web 

Interview with Manon Aubry) 

  

  

  

 

transform! published the English, German and 

Greek edition of the Euromemo 2020  

edited by the EuroMemo Group 

 Preface to EuroMemo 

Published in English, February 2020 
 
Author: Roland Kulke 

  

 

https://www.transform-network.net/en/newsletter/issue/special-newsletter-ep-resolution-memory-politics/
https://www.transform-network.net/en/newsletter/issue/special-newsletter-ep-resolution-memory-politics/
https://www.transform-network.net/en/newsletter/issue/special-newsletter-greek-refugee-camps-and-the-covid-19-crisis/
https://www.transform-network.net/en/newsletter/issue/special-newsletter-greek-refugee-camps-and-the-covid-19-crisis/
https://www.transform-network.net/en/newsletter/issue/special-newsletter-transform-webinars/
https://www.transform-network.net/en/newsletter/issue/special-newsletter-web-interview-with-manon-aubry/
https://www.transform-network.net/en/newsletter/issue/special-newsletter-web-interview-with-manon-aubry/
https://www.transform-network.net/fileadmin/user_upload/euromemo20_screen1.pdf
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Yearbook 2020 

Europe in the Brave New World. 

transform! 2020 

Edited by Walter Baier, Eric Canepa and 

Haris Golemis 

Merlin Press Ltd. 

www.merlinpress.co.uk  

ISBN 978-0-85036-760-7 

Paperback 

April 2020 

Price: £ 20.00 

  

  

 

Deepening European Integration in Order to 

Get Realistic Options for the European Left 

Published in English, Romanian and 
Bulgarian (ePaper), February 2020 

Author: Harmut Elsenhans 

  

 

Guide for Municipalities for the Defence of Common 

Goods 

Democratic Control for 

Access to Land 

by Fundació Alternativa 

 

https://www.transform-network.net/network/authors/detail/walter-baier/
https://www.transform-network.net/network/authors/detail/eric-canepa/
https://www.transform-network.net/network/authors/detail/haris-golemis/
http://www.merlinpress.co.uk/
https://bit.ly/3koon8M
https://bit.ly/3koon8M
https://ro.baricada.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/01/Transform_europe_RO_07.2019_v2.pdf
https://baricada.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/12/Transform_europe_BG_02.2020_v3.pdf
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What Should We Make of the Decisions of the 

European Council on the ‘Development Plan’ 

and the Next Multiannual Financial 

Framework? 

Published in: English, German, French, Greek 

and Spanish (Blog), August 2020 

Republished also in German: 
https://www.alternative-wirtschaftspolitik.de/ 
 
Author: Roland Kulke 

 

 

More Money – Less Solidarity: 

Competition of the Subsidies 

Published in: English, German, French, Greek 

and Spanish (Blog), August 2020 

Republished also in German: 
https://www.alternative-wirtschaftspolitik.de/ 
 
Authors: Susanne Wixforth (DGB) and Roland 
Kulke 

 

 

The Pandemic as Part of a Much Broader 

Crisis of Civilisation 

Published in: English, German, French, Greek 

and Spanish (Blog), June 2020 

Author: Roland Kulke 

 

 

Transport and Climate Crisis – Lessons for 

the Left 

Published in English (ePaper), February 2020 

Author: Jens Holm 
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Social and Ecological Considerations for 

the Future of the Construction Sector 

Published in English (epaper), February 2020 

Author: Stephen Schindler 

 

 

Progressive Narratives – The 

Future of Labour Law as 

Envisaged by Europe’s National 

Labour Movements 

Published in English in October 2020 

Author: Andrea Allamprese 

 

 

Von A wie Arbeit bis Z wie 

Zukunft 

Arbeiten und Wirtschaften in der 

Klimakrise 

published in German by Periskop, Austria 

  

https://kollektiv-periskop.org/projekte/von-a-wie-arbeit-bis-z-wie-zukunft/
https://kollektiv-periskop.org/projekte/von-a-wie-arbeit-bis-z-wie-zukunft/
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Ten Years into the Global Financial Crisis. 

The Current State of Finance in the EU: 

Prospects and Alternatives 

-          published by NPI, Greece 

  

 

Survey on the European Left Party III 

Part 1 

  

 

 

 

Commons, Markets and Public Policy 

 
By Marco Berlinguer 
 
ePaper 

 

https://www.transform-network.net/publications/issue/ten-years-into-the-global-financial-crisis-the-current-state-of-finance-in-the-eu-prospects-and-al/
https://www.transform-network.net/publications/issue/ten-years-into-the-global-financial-crisis-the-current-state-of-finance-in-the-eu-prospects-and-al/
https://www.transform-network.net/publications/issue/ten-years-into-the-global-financial-crisis-the-current-state-of-finance-in-the-eu-prospects-and-al/
https://www.transform-network.net/publications/issue/survey-on-the-european-left-party-iii/
https://www.transform-network.net/publications/issue/commons-markets-and-public-policy/
https://www.transform-network.net/network/authors/detail/marco-berlinguer/
https://www.transform-network.net/network/authors/detail/marco-berlinguer/
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The path to the European Union for 

North Macedonia, false promises and 

unfilled standards 

Author: Sonja Stojadinović 

ePaper, published in English, Romanian and 

Bulgarian 

 

 

 

Revolution”.Bubble 4.0 - A Marxist 

View through the Prism of the Old Left  

Author: Pavel Sirůček 

ePaper, published in English  

 

 

 

Constructing the Neoliberal Subject in 

the "Cool” Capitalism of Central and 

Eastern Europe. 

Author: Veronika Sušová-Salminen 

ePaper, originally published in 2019 in English 

and re-published in 2020 in Romanian and 

Bulgarian 

 

https://www.transform-network.net/publications/issue/the-path-to-the-european-union-for-north-macedonia-false-promises-and-unfilled-standards/
https://www.transform-network.net/publications/issue/the-path-to-the-european-union-for-north-macedonia-false-promises-and-unfilled-standards/
https://www.transform-network.net/publications/issue/the-path-to-the-european-union-for-north-macedonia-false-promises-and-unfilled-standards/
https://ro.baricada.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/10/Transform_europe_RO.pdf
https://baricada.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/10/Transform_europe_BG_v2.pdf
https://www.transform-network.net/publications/issue/bubble-40-a-marxist-view-through-the-prism-of-the-old-left/
https://www.transform-network.net/publications/issue/bubble-40-a-marxist-view-through-the-prism-of-the-old-left/
https://www.transform-network.net/publications/issue/constructing-the-neoliberal-subject-in-the-cool-capitalism-of-central-and-eastern-europe/
https://www.transform-network.net/publications/issue/constructing-the-neoliberal-subject-in-the-cool-capitalism-of-central-and-eastern-europe/
https://www.transform-network.net/publications/issue/constructing-the-neoliberal-subject-in-the-cool-capitalism-of-central-and-eastern-europe/
https://ro.baricada.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/12/Transform_europe_RO_07_v1.pdf
https://baricada.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/12/Transform_europe_BG_07.2019_v21.pdf
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Gender, Generations, and Communism 

in Central and Eastern Europe and 

beyond  

Author: Agnieszka Mrozik, Anna Artwińska, 

Sigrid Weigel, Isidora Grubački, Chiara 

Bonfiglioli, Eloisa Betti, Sercan Çinar, Natalia 

Jarska, Barbara Klich-Kluczewska, Katarzyna 

Stańczak-Wiślicz, Libuše Heczková,í Kateřina 

Svatoňová, Anja Tippner, Anna MÜller, 

Francisca de Haan 

Book published by Routledge, series 

“Routledge Research in Gender and History” 

– with the support of transform! europe.  

 

 

Feminism  and New Conservatism: 

New Tendencies in the Balkans. 

Authors: Anej Koriska, Eurisa Rukovici, Ana 

Vasileva, Paula Zora, Heidemarie Ambrosch, 

Jana Tsoneva, Florin Poenaru, Vuk Vuković, 

Arlind Qori 

Gender inequalities and new forms of 

conservatism in the Balkans are part of 

broader European trends, but they also carry 

their own specificities. The articles collected 

provide an overview of the political struggles 

and turmoil across the Balkans, from Bulgaria 

to Slovenia. 

Published in English and Serbo-Croatian by  

Udruženje za medijsku demokraciju 

(BILTEN), Croatia in cooperation with 

transform! europe. 

 

https://www.transform-network.net/blog/article/gender-generations-and-communism-in-central-and-eastern-europe-and-beyond/
https://www.transform-network.net/blog/article/gender-generations-and-communism-in-central-and-eastern-europe-and-beyond/
https://www.transform-network.net/blog/article/gender-generations-and-communism-in-central-and-eastern-europe-and-beyond/
https://www.transform-network.net/publications/issue/feminism-and-a-new-conservatism-in-the-balkans/
https://www.transform-network.net/publications/issue/feminism-and-a-new-conservatism-in-the-balkans/
https://www.transform-network.net/fileadmin/user_upload/feminizam_i_novi_konzervativizam.pdf
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Life Stories, Workers’ Rights, and 

fem-Minism.  

Published by Institute of 8th March, Slovenia 

in cooperation with transform! europe.  

Collection of two sets of life stories: The first 

one was part of a cam­paign for workers’ 

rights, carried out before the pandemic, the 

second one is dedicated to the situation of 

self-employed parents during the pandemic. 

Published in English and used in Slovenia for 

work of the partner organisation. 

 

 

COVID-19 Pandemic: The end of 

Neoliberal Globalisation?  

Authors: Veronika Sušová-Salminen, Ilona 

Švihlíková (eds.) 

eBook published in Czech and English  by 

OVIA, časopis !argument, Czech Republic  in 

cooperation with transform! europe 

 

 

https://www.transform-network.net/publications/issue/life-stories-workers-rights-and-feminism/
https://www.transform-network.net/publications/issue/life-stories-workers-rights-and-feminism/
https://www.transform-network.net/publications/issue/the-covid-19-pandemic-the-end-of-neoliberal-globalisation/
https://www.transform-network.net/publications/issue/the-covid-19-pandemic-the-end-of-neoliberal-globalisation/
https://www.transform-network.net/fileadmin/user_upload/ebook_pandemie-covid-19_cz_version_final.pdf


transform! Activity report 2020 – Q1 2021  10 

 

 

The Situation of Women in Poland 2020 

Published by Fundacja Naprzód, Poland in 

cooperation with transform! europe. 

Brochure reflecting on Women Rights in 

Poland from different angles reflecting on  

Women’s Strikes 2020 and  its political 

context. 

Published in English and Polish. 

Video from the Women’ Strikes 2020. 

Published in Polish with English Subtitles. 

 

 

 

eBrochure 

Right to Water 

An eDossier by Centre for the Politics of 

Emancipation (CPE) and initiative Right to 

Water in cooperation with transform! europe 

and Rosa Luxemburg Stiftung - Southeast 

Europe. 

Published in English and Serbo-Croatian  

 

https://www.transform-network.net/publications/issue/the-situation-of-women-in-poland-2020/
https://www.transform-network.net/fileadmin/user_upload/sytuacja_kobiet_w_polsce-skompresowany.pdf
https://youtu.be/yw3A_ULx_xQ
https://www.transform-network.net/publications/issue/right-to-water/
http://cpe.org.rs/
http://cpe.org.rs/
http://cpe.org.rs/
https://www.facebook.com/pravonavodu/
https://www.facebook.com/pravonavodu/
https://www.facebook.com/pravonavodu/
http://transform-network.net/
http://www.rosalux.rs/
http://www.rosalux.rs/
http://www.rosalux.rs/
https://www.transform-network.net/fileadmin/user_upload/pravo-na-vodu_rs_web.pdf
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ePaper 

Ecofeminist review of the 

proposals for a Green New 

Deal 

By Júlia Martí Comas 

 

 

 

eBook 

"New Deal" means being 

prepared for conflict. What 

we can learn from the New 

Deal of the 1930s. 

By Steffen Lehndorff 

96 pages | VSA: Verlag Hamburg 

 

 

https://www.transform-network.net/en/network/transform-europe-authors/detail/julia-marti-comas/
https://www.transform-network.net/en/network/transform-europe-authors/detail/julia-marti-comas/
https://www.transform-network.net/en/network/transform-europe-authors/detail/steffen-lehndorff/
https://www.transform-network.net/en/network/transform-europe-authors/detail/steffen-lehndorff/
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ePaper 

The Economic Response to the Covid-

19 Pandemic in the Czech Republic 

By Ilona Švihlíková 

Published in English. 

 

 

 

Another Wage is Possible 

Published by Centre for the Politics of 

Emancipation (CPE), Serbia in cooperation 

with transform! europe. 

Policy Paper and Leaflet on Living Wage: 

Though the right to a living wage is a human 

right, workers’ wages are far below a living 

wage. The most recent research again 

revealed the huge gap between living wages 

and actual remuneration of workers promoting 

the minimum living wage concept.  

Linked to CPE activities within the framework 

of the Clean Clothes Campaign (CCC) 

initiative. 

Published in Slovakian, Czech, Slovenian, 

Polish and Bulgarian language. Transform! 

contributed to the translation. 

 

https://www.transform-network.net/publications/issue/the-economic-response-to-the-covid-19-pandemic-in-the-czech-republic/
https://www.transform-network.net/publications/issue/the-economic-response-to-the-covid-19-pandemic-in-the-czech-republic/
https://www.transform-network.net/en/network/transform-europe-authors/detail/ilona-svihlikova/
https://www.transform-network.net/en/network/transform-europe-authors/detail/ilona-svihlikova/
https://cleanclothes.org/
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Journal Remembering Late Socialism: 

Autofictional and Autobiographical 

Texts from Central and Eastern 

Europe.  

Author: Agnieszka Mrozik, Anja Tippner and 

others  

Cluster of six articles about Poland, Czech 

Republic, Russia, Romania, Hungary and 

Bulgaria. To be published online in 2021 

(open access) by the prestigious "European 

Journal of Life Writing" issued by the 

University of Groningen Press.  

Will be published in 2021 in English, , 

transform! contributed in 2020 to copy editing. 

 

 “A Planet to Win” by Kate Aronoff, Alyssa 

Battistoni, Daniel Aldana Cohen, and Thea 

Riofrancos  

Italian translation March 2021 

 

Other media cooperation in 

Central and Eastern Europe 

  

 
 

 

 

For more information please refer to the 

Central and Eastern Europe Strategy chapter. 

  

     

https://ejlw.eu/index/t_blank
https://ejlw.eu/index/t_blank
https://www.versobooks.com/authors/2404-kate-aronoff
https://www.versobooks.com/authors/2405-alyssa-battistoni
https://www.versobooks.com/authors/2405-alyssa-battistoni
https://www.versobooks.com/authors/2081-daniel-aldana-cohen
https://www.versobooks.com/authors/2406-thea-riofrancos
https://www.versobooks.com/authors/2406-thea-riofrancos
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New transform! europe 

Podcasts 
transform! europe's online interview 

series "The Left Reflects" with Luciana 

Castellina, Alex Demirović, Nancy Fraser, 

Leo Panitch, Gayatri Spivak, and Hilary 

Wainwright now available as podcast – in 

cooperation with Austrian left-wing 

platform Mosaik. 

 

 

2. transform! Events and research in the frame of the main 

programmes / working groups 

 

 

 

 

a)      European Integration and Left strategy - Angelina Giannopoulou 

 

 January  

1. 14 -15 January 2021 
 

International Conference 

Left theory for the 21st century - ΙΙ 
Nicos Poulantzas Institute (NPI) organises the 
second conference of the research project ‘Left 
theory for the Twenty-First century’ funded by 
transform! europe Network and coordinated by 
Costas Douzinas, NPI’s President, and Michalis 
Bartsidis, NPI’s scientific director. 

 

2. Left Strategy Project: A first collection of literature on the concept of left governance 
prepared and presented in the Board Conclave. The literature includes 
monographies, collective volumes, academic papers and some good written articles 
on websites. 

 

https://www.transform-network.net/blog/article/transform-europe-podcasts/?tx_news_pi1%5Bfocus%5D=&cHash=8fd1cf05c0a044f19b12e21dce5c20b1
https://www.transform-network.net/blog/article/transform-europe-podcasts/?tx_news_pi1%5Bfocus%5D=&cHash=8fd1cf05c0a044f19b12e21dce5c20b1
https://www.transform-network.net/calendar/event/left-theory-for-the-21st-century-ii/
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3. Collection of speeches from the Congress of the Party of the European Left → 

presentation through our website 

 

February 

1. 1st Transform’s topic-focused presentation at the Ex Board of the EL (22-23 Feb): 
input on Brexit: The EU-UK deal. 

 

2. Paper “Methodology proposal” prepared for adoption on behalf of the EL SU wg. The 
paper is based on the one drafted for internal use and presented in transform’s 
Conclave. 

 

March 

1. Conceptual work and preparation of the Strategic Seminar (transform! + RLS), 
POSTPONED due to covid. 

 

2. Collection of articles about the pandemic (political, economic, cultural, 
psychological, social aspects) 

 

3. Webinars series ‘The Left reflects on the global pandemic’: conceptual work and 
preparation  

 

April 

1. Webinars series ‘The Left reflects on the global pandemic’:  

 

- 07.04 The Left Reflects on the Global Pandemic: Leo Panitch, 
(interviewed by Kate Hudson) + video uploaded in our YouTube 
channel  

 

 

- 09.04 The Left Reflects on the Global Pandemic: Luciana 
Castellina, (interviewed by Haris Golemis) + video uploaded in 
our YouTube channel 
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- 16.04 The Left Reflects on the Global Pandemic: Nancy Fraser, (interviewed by Haris 

Golemis) + video uploaded in our YouTube channel 

 

- 22.04 The Left Reflects on the Global Pandemic: Alex Demirović, (interviewed by 

Gerassimos Kouzelis) + video uploaded in our YouTube channel 

 

 

May 

 

1. Webinars series ‘The Left reflects on the global pandemic’:  

 

- 05.05 The Left Reflects on the Global Pandemic: Hilary Wainwright, (interviewed by 

Haris Golemis), +video uploaded in our YouTube channel 

 

- 07.05 The Left Reflects on the Global Pandemic: Gayatri C. Spivak, (interviewed by 

Monika Mokre), + video uploaded in our YouTube channel 
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2. 08.05, Espaces Marx- transform!  closed seminar “Key features of the ideological 
and electoral reconfiguration in the European political field”, (moderation - promotion) 

 

3. Webinars series “Meeting the Left”: 

 

- 11.05, Catarina Martins, Bloco de Esquerda, Portugal, interviewed by W. Baier and 
Hugo Monteiro. Simultaneous interpretation + videos (EN-PT) uploaded in our 

YouTube channel     

 

- 13.05, Katja Kipping, Die Linke, Germany, interviewed by W. Baier and Cornelia 
Hildebrandt. Simultaneous interpretation + videos (EN-DE) uploaded in our YouTube 

channel  

 

- 19.05, Heinz Bierbaum, Party of the European Left, interviewed by W. Baier and 

Marga Ferre. Video uploaded in our YouTube channel  
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- 21.05, Arnaldo Otegi, EH Bildu, Basque Country, Spanish state, interviewed by W. 
Baier and Elena Beloki. Simultaneous interpretation + videos uploaded (EN - 

Euskarian) in our YouTube channel  

 

- 29.05, Manon Aubry, GUE/NGL, interviewed by W.Baier and Danae Koltsida. Video 

uploaded in our Youtube channel  

 

 

June 

 

1. Webinars series “Meeting the Left”: 

 

- 03.06, Clementine Autain, La France Insoumise, France, interviewed by W. Baier and 
Tatiana Moutinho. Simultaneous interpretation + videos (EN-FR) in our YouTube 

channel  
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- 10.06, Enrique Santiago, PCE, Spain, interviewed by W. Baier and Marga Ferre. 
Simultaneous interpretation + videos (EN-ES) uploaded in our 

YouTube channel  

 
- 16.06, Luka Mesec, Levica, Slovenia, interviewed by W. Baier and Dagmar 

Švendová. Video uploaded in our  

YouTube channel  

 

- 24.06, Maurizio Acerbo, Rifondazione Comunista, Italy, interviewed by W. Baier and 
Roberto Morea. Simultaneous interpretation + videos (EN-IT) uploaded in our 

YouTube channel  

 

 

July 

 

1. Webinars series “Meeting the Left”: 
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- 02.07, Vojtěch Filip, KSČM, Czech Republic, interviewed by W. Baier and Barbara 
Steiner. Pre-recorded event, consecutive interpretation. Video uploaded in our 

YouTube channel.  

 

 

2. Document prepared for Heinz Bierbaum and the EL on the “Progressive 
International”.  

 

3. Interview with Katarina Peović, newly elected MP with the Left in Croatia, 
interviewed by W. Baier and Dagmar Švendová.Video uploaded in our website 

 

 

 
Call for Tender (deadline: 19 October) 

Research assistant for the Project "Socialism in Central 
and Eastern Europe – Austro-Marxism" 

 

 

 14 November 2020 

transform! Europe strategic seminar at the 
European Forum 

The Radical Left in a Pandemic 
World: Perspectives from Europe 

 

 

 

https://www.transform-network.net/blog/article/research-assistant-for-the-project-socialism-in-central-and-eastern-europe-austro-marxism/?tx_news_pi1%5Bfocus%5D=&cHash=405d966b6f060a6397a2f958c7fbe387
https://www.transform-network.net/blog/article/research-assistant-for-the-project-socialism-in-central-and-eastern-europe-austro-marxism/?tx_news_pi1%5Bfocus%5D=&cHash=405d966b6f060a6397a2f958c7fbe387
https://www.transform-network.net/calendar/event/the-radical-left-in-a-pandemic-world-perspectives-from-europe/
https://www.transform-network.net/calendar/event/the-radical-left-in-a-pandemic-world-perspectives-from-europe/
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2020 3 Dec 6th EL congress questionnaire data summary presentation to transform + EL 
members 

 

b)      Productive transformation and Socioecology - Roland Kulke 

2019 9th December in the European Parliament: 

“A Green New Deal for people? Climate justice, just transition, energy poverty.” 

In cooperation with: Right to Energy Coalition, Feantsa 

 

2019 11th December in the European Parliament: 

Congress on Industrial Policy and Green New Deal 

In cooperation with GUE/NGL 

 

 

2020 April 2nd: 

First meeting of the transform europe working group on the economic impact of the Corona 

Crisis 

 

2020 April 29: 

First Global Green New Deal 

Webinar: "What are the 

ingredients for a transformational 

Red+Green New Deal?" (opening 

of the series which has been 

organized in collaboration with 

RLS Brussels, RLS New York and 

Transnational Institute, Amsterdam) 

 

2020 May 5th: 

Second meeting of the transform europe working group on the economic impact of the 

Corona Crisis (Coalition of the Willing for Eurobonds) 

 

2020 May 6th: 

Third Global Green New Deal Webinar: "Bringing back the state: The role of state 

intervention and public services in the post-Covid era" 

 

2020 May 13th: 

“A Global Green New Deal” Webinar from TNI et al. in cooperation with transform europe 

 

2020 May 21st: 

Fourth Global Green New Deal Webinar: “Alternative trade rules for climate action” 

 

2020 May 26th: 
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Fifth Global Green New Deal Webinar: “The Energy We Need” 

 

2020 June 5th: 

Sixth Global Green New Deal Webinar: “With everything up for grabs, The Green New 

Deal(s) the world needs now. Planning for Transformation: Visions from China, Southeast 

Africa, and Western Europe” 

 

August 2020 Call for Papers (deadline: 30 September) 

Country Studies on National Recovery Plans of EU 

Member States in the wake of the Corona Crisis 
 

 

2020 September 15th: 

Third meeting of the transform europe working group on the economic impact of the Corona 

Crisis (on tax justice) 

 

27 November 2020 

 

transform! europe at the European Forum 

It's getting hot in here! How can we 

drastically reduce CO2 emissions in 

the EU, and eradicate poverty? 
transform! europe, the Green European Foundation 

(GEF) and the Foundation for European Progressive 

Studies (FEPS) support the European Forum 2020 – 

How can we drastically reduce CO2 emissions in the 

EU and eradicate poverty? 

 

 

January 2021 - presentation of the Study by Espaces 

Marx: “What political colour is environmentalism?” at 

the board meeting 

 

13 March 2021 

Online Conference (transform! danmark) 

How to Combat Climate Warming – Green Capitalism or system 

change ? 
 

 

c) Feminism and Marxism 

 

2020 October 25th 

 

https://www.transform-network.net/blog/article/country-studies-on-national-recovery-plans-of-eu-member-states-in-the-wake-of-the-corona-crisis/?tx_news_pi1%5Bfocus%5D=&cHash=0e11ad8bf83241a1389a39218b3fbbb3
https://www.transform-network.net/blog/article/country-studies-on-national-recovery-plans-of-eu-member-states-in-the-wake-of-the-corona-crisis/?tx_news_pi1%5Bfocus%5D=&cHash=0e11ad8bf83241a1389a39218b3fbbb3
https://www.transform-network.net/calendar/event/its-getting-hot-in-here-how-can-we-drastically-reduce-co2-emissions-in-the-eu-and-eradicate-pover/
https://www.transform-network.net/calendar/event/its-getting-hot-in-here-how-can-we-drastically-reduce-co2-emissions-in-the-eu-and-eradicate-pover/
https://www.transform-network.net/calendar/event/its-getting-hot-in-here-how-can-we-drastically-reduce-co2-emissions-in-the-eu-and-eradicate-pover/
https://www.transform-network.net/calendar/event/how-to-combat-climate-warming-green-capitalism-or-system-change-1/
https://www.transform-network.net/calendar/event/how-to-combat-climate-warming-green-capitalism-or-system-change-1/
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Marxist-Feminist International Conference - The Horizon of Black Lives matter. 

Webinar dedicated to the question on how Black Lives Matter (BLM) can connect with 

Marxist Feminism in a global perspective, with the participation of Gina Dent, Jule 

Goikoetxea, Surya Parekh and Gayatri Chakravorty Spivak. 

Video available in English. 

 

 

 

2020 December 2nd 

Marxist-Feminist International Conference - The 

Project of a Marixist Feminist International 

Webinar dedicated to reflecting on the growing 

Marxist feminist project, its possibilities and practices, 

as well as on its future working methods, activities 

and priorities, with the participation of Frigga Haug, 

Heidi Ambrosch, Jule Goikoetxea, Diana Mulinari and 

Nora Räthzel. 

Videos available in English and German. 

 

 

18 February 2021 

 

Webinar 

"Bad Girls and Disobedient Wombs" 
Organised by transform! europe and the Iratzar 

Foundation (Basque Country), this webinar will focus on 

the political and social control of women's bodies, one 

of the axes of the IV. International Marxist Feminist 

Conference. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2021 March 4th 

Film Presentation and Debate 

Our Bodies – Our Choice – Our Decisions 
On the occasion of the International Women's Day on 

8 March, organised by transform! europe and the 

Polish Naprzód Foundation, this webinar brings 

together feminist activists to discuss the current 

struggle of Polish women and to reflect on the 

victorious pro-choice campaigns for accessible, free 

and safe abortion in Ireland and Argentina. 

Videos in English, Polish and Spanish available 

https://youtu.be/twyhcdJnHFw
https://youtu.be/XuIHZksslZY
https://youtu.be/WNPSQTlCftc
https://www.transform-network.net/calendar/event/bad-girls-and-disobedient-wombs/
https://www.transform-network.net/calendar/event/our-bodies-our-choice-our-decisions/
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March 2021: Study by Tania Toffanin: Implications of COVID-19 on women workers in the 

service sector. A special focus on Italy 

  

  

d) Global strategy and Migration 

 

1.Global strategy and movements (Katerina Anastasiou) 

 

Events and cooperations 

 

September 2019 

 

Participation: Thematic workshop on 

Challenges of a Common Security Policy in 

Europe and Asia.  

A cooperation with IPB and AEPF. Berlin, 

24-25.09.2019. 
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Cooperation: Nuclear Security in Europe 

after the collapse of the INF Treaty. 

Cooperation with IPB Brussels, 14.09.2019    

 

 

 

  

October 2019 

 

Cooperation: International convention: 
Women’s Freedom in the 21st Century. 11-
13, October, 2019, Rome 

 

 

 

 

 

 

November 2019 

 

 

Cooperation: Transform!europe /RLF 

Brussels cooperation Workshop: Peace, a 

cornerstone of the European Strategy  

9.11.2019  
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Participation: Counter-Summit The New 

World Disorder  30.11.2019, No Nato 

Network 

 

 

February 2020 

Transform!europe annual conference:  

Middle East at historical Crossroads, 4th 

edition. What about democracy today? , 21-

23.02.2020, Vienna  
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Workshops  

July 2020 - December 2020 

 

 

 

Workshop series:  Security and the Left in 

Europe Workshop, towards a Left concept 

of security, in cooperation with RLS 

Brussels office 

A facilitated series of online, invitation based, 

workshops about “security”, its conception and 

use in contemporary politics. With these 

series of workshops we aim to foster an 

intersectional and transnational discussion on 

peace and security through the lens of today’s 

challenges and movements (feminist, anti-

racist, ecological, human rights, peace, etc). 

In five consecutive workshops we want to 

allow participants to share their perspective on 

what security means in relation to these 

challenges and movements and learn from 

activists, scholars and members of Left parties 

how security is debated in different regions of 

Europe. The workshops should facilitate 

dialogue and continuous exchange that result 

in a publication with considerations and further 

questions for a concept of “security” from the 

Left. 

 

Workshop 1 - introductory workshop 

 

( audio file here)  

 13th of July, 15:00 CEST where the concept 

of the workshop series was presented and 

discussed with invited participants 

 

How is security discussed in your country?  

How does your organisation discuss security? 

What are your priorities and expectations for 

this workshop series? 

 

Inputs by: Walter Baier (transform!europe), 

Kate Hudson (CND, rethinking security), Sara 

Prestianni (euromed rights) 

Workshop 2 -Military & violent conflict 

 

(Workshop report here, audio file here)  

16.09.2020, 15:00 CEST  

 

How the militarisation of European societies 

is impacting the security of people 

throughout the world, how the Left in 

Europe acts in relation to violent conflict and 

in what terms the Left can argue for a non-

militarized concept of security in this 

context. We will have three guest speakers 

https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1WupKVBjcI99d7qkVuNaxVNQb4tkuXyNz?usp=sharing
https://docs.google.com/document/d/1oGOS928ZXG3pyfWog1xuEQy-182I_c5SLmeS3QA0aW8/edit?usp=sharing
https://docs.google.com/document/d/1oGOS928ZXG3pyfWog1xuEQy-182I_c5SLmeS3QA0aW8/edit?usp=sharing
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who will provide inputs on these questions 

through the perspectives of mobilisation and 

protest, party politics and military conflict as 

well as theory and intersectionality.  

 

What are the strengths, what are the 

shortcomings of Left positions across 

Europe, when it comes to military and 

violent conflicts?   

Taking into account current international 

developments, in what terms can/or should 

the Left in Europe argue for a non-

militarized security?  

 

Inputs by: Heidi Meinzolt (WILPF Europe), 

Daniel Seifert (Rheinmetal Entwaffnen), 

Giorgos Katrougkalos (Syriza) 

Workshop 3 -security and ecology  

 

(Workshop report here, audio file here)  

7.10.2020 15:00-17:00 CEST 

 

How is the climate crisis and the threats that it 

poses for people, nature and infrastructure 

debated in your countries? (material impact of 

climate change in your country, political 

discourse with focus on security, relevant social 

movements and strategies etc)    

 

How should a Left security concept for Europe 

address the threats posed globally by 

contemporary modes of production and 

consumption? 

 

Inputs by: Tatiana Gavito (Wretched of the 

Earth), Naomi Kreitman (Gastivists), Natasa 

Ioannou (Friends of the Earth Cyprus) 

 

 

Workshop 4 -security and antiracism 

 

(Workshop report here, audio file here)  

27.10.2020 15:00-17:00 CEST 

 

 What does security mean from an anti-racist 

perspective. We see that security is often 

understood among the Left in Europe in terms 

of foreign policy, while the perspective of what 

security actually means on a daily basis for 

https://drive.google.com/file/d/1KZrZGy0ZOSLCvt-Yiq8SIcmhaUNdPRZ2/view?usp=sharing
https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1rIn4_rEgbhsSz_C7Jq8xCeRWRrLRAir2?usp=sharing
https://drive.google.com/file/d/17QdxxdufQxhzjcRsKXKR3rCnjLDajOVc/view?usp=sharing
https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1HLM94lmaYfdBS39A-bsCrq7c-dL-ii1E?usp=sharing
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racial and religious minorities living in the EU is 

often lacking. 

 

What is the current state of affairs, when it comes 

to antiracist and migrant struggles in your 

countries?  

 

What should a Left security concept for Europe 

entail when it comes to ensuring the security of 

migrants and religious and racial minorities?  

 

Inputs: Mark Akkerman ( Stop Wapenhandel), 

Anna Nasser (Transnational Migrant Coordination) 

 

Workshop 5 - security and democracy 

 

(Workshop report here, audio file here) 

  

18.11.2020, 15:00 CEST 

 We explore the increasingly detrimental effects of 

corporate and state surveillance on privacy, media 

freedom, democracy and everyday life. What 

should a security concept from the Left take into 

account when catering for the security needs of all 

people and safeguarding democracy? Closely 

linked, we are in particular interested in debating 

the impacts of policing and counter-terrorism 

strategies on ethnic and religious minorities and 

how a racialised security discourse is used by 

governments to restrict fundamental rights.  

 

What are the current discussions when it comes 

to counter-terrorism and surveillance in you 

countries? 

 How should we – from the Left-  address the 

frequently proclaimed dichotomy between 

liberties and                                                      

security?  What about privacy and security?  

 

Inputs: Narzanin Massoumi (University of Exeter), 

Angelika Adensamer (VICESSE, LINKS) 

 

 

Publication: “Security and the Left in 

Europe, towards a new Left concept of A compiled written report of all five workshops 

2020, including a collection of best practices 

https://drive.google.com/file/d/1wObhaqAKHmDrtzDzg2fQPPngV961_LP5/view?usp=sharing
https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1oK3jFrUfEiE3q5bsseCA_YQFMj6u7FxS?usp=sharing
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security”  Final Draft  

Status: in proofreading   

and future prospects for the project 2021 

 

Author: Sofian Naceur 

Editors: Axel Ruppert, Katerina Anastasiou 

 

 
Webinars 

 

April 2020  

 

30.04.2020 

Introducing Global dialogue for systemic 

change: an initiative between global 

movements and civic society dialogue, in 

order to share analysis, experiences, and 

alternatives in the face of growing health, 

social, economic, political, and environmental 

crises and to engage in national, continental, 

and worldwide discussions about the 

challenges we are facing,  

Cooperation project 

  

European Forum -Debate - What global 

security for European solidarity and world 

peace? 

 

Video here 

https://europeanforum.eu/online-

2020/programme-2020/ 

23.11.2020, 6pm-8pm CET 

 

Speakers:  

Giorgos Katrougalos (MP SYRIZA, former Minister 
of Foreign Affairs, Greece) 
 
Mina Tolu (Co-spokesperson of Federation of 
Young European Greens) 
 
Neoklis Sylikiotis (Member of the Political Bureau 
of AKEL, former MEP, Cyprus) 
 
Oguz Turkyilmaz (International policies working 
group of Sol (Left) Party, Turkey) 
 
Petro Symonenko (First Secretary of the 
Communist Party of Ukraine) 
 
Reiner Braun (Co Président International Peace 
Bureau, Germany) 

Moderation: Axel Ruppert, Katerina Anastasiou 

 
 

https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1oK3jFrUfEiE3q5bsseCA_YQFMj6u7FxS?usp=sharing
https://www.facebook.com/EuropeLEFT/posts/10164565440130013
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European Forum 2020 -Workshop 

 

 

Recordings here  

 25.11.2021, 6pm-8pm CET 

 
Over the past six months, transform! europe 

and the Rosa-Luxemburg-Stiftung Brussels 

office, have facilitated a series of five 

workshops on security concepts from and for 

the Left. Activists of Left and progressive 

parties, NGOs and grassroots movements have 

come together to discuss “security”, its 

conception and use in contemporary politics. 

With this series of workshops, we aimed to 

foster an intersectional and transnational 

discussion on peace and security through the 

lens of today’s challenges and movements 

(feminist, anti-racist, ecological, human rights, 

peace, etc).  

In this workshop, we will discuss key issues that 

evolved from the past months and try to 

highlight strategic considerations, ideas and 

contradictions that emerge, when discussing a 

Left approach to security at a European level.   

Why is a discussion about security important for 

Left and progressive actors and what are the 

current security challenges for the people? How 

can ecology, peace, feminist and antiracism 

movements work together to formulate security 

policies that cater for the actual security needs 

of everyday life in contrast to those focused on 

military spending and action, policing, 

oppression and surveillance? 

Speakers:  
Heidi Meinzolt – Womens International League 

for Peace and Freedom (WILPF) 

David Perejil Bricio – Podemos International 

Secretariat 

Sarah Reader – Agir pour la paix  

Walter Baier – transform! europe 

Angelika Adensamer – LINKS 

 

Moderation: Katerina Anastasiou, Axel 

Ruppert 

  

https://drive.google.com/file/d/1X4VSaqvH_hW3IrazS4P75MTfoxEd8YEP/view?usp=sharing
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Digital platforms 

 

Re-activating and updating Change4all 
 
Change4all, was created 2015 by 
transform!europe under the facilitation of 
Katerina Anastasiou, as a result of an effort 
to achieve visibility and solid network 
connections between European anti-
austerity, solidarity and anti-racism 
movements . 2020 we relaunch the 
change4all platform, with new features, 
extensive mapping of solidarity movements 
and structures and a mobilization campaign 
that should motivate movements to use this 
tool.  

 

 

Working Groups and Networks  

Participation: Working group,  

EL Peace 

Vis a vis Meeting 1.12.2019, London  

Participation: Working group,  

EL Middle East  

 

Participation EL International Committee  

Cooperation: Working Group, Program 

Committee, IPB Cooperation , Barcelona 

2021, Peace Conference 

https://www.ipb2021.barcelona/ 
 
Participation in the program committee: 
Katerina Anastasiou 

Participation: AEPF working meetings  

 

2.Migration 

 

Events , workshops and cooperations 

 

October 2019 
 

Presentation of Colours of a Journey during 
a 3 hours seminar, at the Politechnic 
Institute of Porto  

 

 
 

https://www.change4all.eu/
https://www.ipb2021.barcelona/
https://coloursofajourney.eu/
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Cooperation Micar 2019,2th-4th October 
2019, Porto  

 

 

November 2019 

 

 

Exhibition Colours of a Journey at the 
European Forum, 10.11.2020  

 

 

 

 

Mai 2020 

 

 

Sabir 2020 (digital version), 12.06.2020, 
Cooperation  
 
Moderator: Katerina Anastasiou 

Welcoming remarks by Franco Uda on behalf 

of the SABIR Festival Steering Committee 

CSOs and grassroots activists from the two 

shores of the Mediterranean share their 

analysis of the impact of the pandemic on the 

civic space, fundamental rights and democracy 

ModForum 
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● Paola Berbeglia, Concord Europe 

● Susanna Camusso, Italian 

General Confederation of Labour 

● Allaa Talbi, Forum tunisien pour 

les droits économiques et sociaux 

● Wadih Al Asmar, Lebanese 

Centre for Human Rights & 

MAJALAT 

● Jamila Sayouri, Adala – Justice 

for the right to a fair trial, Marocco 

Reactions from the MEPs 

● Malin Björk, GUE/NGL Group 

● David Cormand, The Greens/EFA 

Group 

Concluding remarks by Jan Robert Suesser, 

European Civic Forum 

 

 

 

 

 

 

September 2020 

 

Open Borders Conference- creating shared 
spaces of struggle, 9-11.09.2020, 
Cooperation: Wien Woche  
 
 

 

Univeristy of Groningen, MA international 

Relations, tutorial 

26.10.2020 , 14:00-17:00 CET 
 
Mobility, Migration and the Crisis of Citizenship, 
taking place on October 26 from 2 to 5 PM.  
 
Lecturer: Katerina Anastasiou 

 

http://www.wienwoche.org/de/1068/open_border_conferencecreating_shared_spaces_of_struggle
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Digital platforms: 

 

Colours of a journey  
 
Strategy to intergrate digital collection into 
archival collections of European public 
institutions, platform maintainance and 
updates  
 

 

 

 

 

Mapping Refugee Solidarity for 

change4all 

475 solidarity initiatives, categorized in 

public initiatives, grassroots and NGO’s 

 

 
 

 

 

Cooperation Proposal Creative Europe call, University of Groningen, Politecnic Institute of 

Porto:  WeRa: We are archive. A European archive of migration memory. 

 

Webinars 

For analytical attendance reports, participants etc click here 

 

March 2020 

 

 

https://sway.office.com/pDW5XUmkvWibSxk2?ref=Link
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Greek Refugee Camps and the Covid-19 
Crisis, 30.03.2020 
 

Panelists:  
Gabriel Sakellaridis, Director of Amnesty 
International Greece 
Iasonas Apostolopoulos, activist, 
Mediterranea:saving humans, Greece 
 
Interviewer: Katerina Anastasiou 
Silent moderation: Tatiana Moutinho, Barbara 
Steiner 
 
Topic:  
Two weeks into the pandemic, we discussed the 
living conditions refugees and migrants are 
forced to endure,  in the detention camps on the 
Greek islands, the lack of sanitary infrastructure 
and medical care,  the lockdown and the 
immediate need for their evacuation, in order to 
safeguard the health and life of the migrants 
and locals on the Greek islands alike. Something 
on which at the time, Médecins sans Frontières 
(Doctors Without Borders), Greek hospital 
personnel, doctors, activists, and even 
conservative migration researchers, like Gerald 
Knaus (one of the architects of the EU-Turkey 
Deal) agreed on. 

 

 

 

April 2020 
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Refugees in the Balkans and the Covid-19 
Pandemic, 20.04.2020 
 
Panelists:  
Nidzara Ahmetasevic (Bosnia) and Emina 
Buzinkic (Croatia), activists of the 
Transbalkan Solidarity network. 
 
Interviewer: Katerina Anastasiou 
Silent moderation: Tatiana Moutinho 
 
 
Topic:  
Four weeks into the pandemic, we 
discussed the living conditions of tens of 
thousands of refugees and migrants, are 
forced to endure currently trapped in the 
Balkans. While some are housed in official 
structures, many more fall outside the 
system and are solely supported by 
activists, volunteers, and the local 
population. The COVID-19 pandemic only 
adds more dangers and precariousness to 
their lives, with local governments taking 
advantage of the situation to continue with 
politics and policies that stigmatize, 
dehumanize and push people to the verge 
of existence. 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Mai 2020 

 

https://transbalkanskasolidarnost.home.blog/eng/
https://transbalkanskasolidarnost.home.blog/eng/
https://transbalkanskasolidarnost.home.blog/eng/
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Sea Rescue in the Mediterranean in Times 
of the Covid-19 Pandemic, 18.05.2020 
Cooperation with RLS, North Africa  office 
 
Panelists:  
Simeon Leisch from the emergency hotline 
Watch The Med - Alarmphone, Lucia 
Gennari from civic sea rescue mission 
Mediterranea Saving Humans,  
Cédric Fettouche from Sea Eye 
 
Interviewers: Ines Mahmoud, Katerina 
Anastasiou 
Silent moderation: Tatiana Moutinho 
 
Topic:  
Eight weeks into the pandemic,  a 
dangerous rescue gap is actively being 
created in the central Mediterranean. One of 
the greatest challenges to tackle during the 
Covid-19 crisis is the systematic withdrawal 
of European authorities from this area. The 
results of European countries no longer 
respecting their legal search-and-rescue 
obligations within European Search and 
Rescue (SAR) zones include pushing boats 
back to North Africa, where especially in 
Libya migrants are met with conditions 
previously described by international 
organizations such as Human Rights Watch 
and the UNHCR as violations of human 
rights. In this webinar, we discussed 
together with Simeon Leisch from the 
emergency hotline Watch The Med - 
Alarmphone, Lucia Gennari from civic sea 
rescue mission Mediterranea Saving 
Humans, and Cédric Fettouche from sea-
eye, the abrogation of the EU responsibility 
in this area. We will ask about the difficulties 
search-and-rescue missions are now facing 
in the Mediterranean, what migrants pushed 
back to North African shores have to 
contend with, and what happens to the 
bodies of those who have lost their lives in 
the highly risky attempt to cross the 
Mediterranean. This webinar was a 
collaboration with the RLS North Africa 
office. 

 

https://www.facebook.com/watchthemed.alarmphone/
https://www.facebook.com/watchthemed.alarmphone/
https://www.facebook.com/watchthemed.alarmphone/
https://www.facebook.com/Mediterranearescue/
https://www.facebook.com/Mediterranearescue/
https://www.facebook.com/Mediterranearescue/
https://sea-eye.org/en/
https://sea-eye.org/en/
https://www.facebook.com/watchthemed.alarmphone/
https://www.facebook.com/watchthemed.alarmphone/
https://www.facebook.com/watchthemed.alarmphone/
https://www.facebook.com/Mediterranearescue/
https://www.facebook.com/Mediterranearescue/
https://www.facebook.com/Mediterranearescue/
https://www.facebook.com/seaeyeorg/
https://www.facebook.com/seaeyeorg/
https://www.facebook.com/seaeyeorg/
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Othering the Other: Migration and Media 

Disinformation 

 

 

In this webinar we discuss the nexus between fake 

news, misinformation and migration. We address 

the impact of fake news in the migration discourse 

and try to give insights on the mechanics of fake 

news, how they are weaponized by far-right and 

fascist groups and how we can resist them.  

 

 

Tenerife Antirrumores and the Disinfaux 

Collective focus on the cases of Tenerife and 

Lesbos respectively, and together with Fulvia 

Teano, a young researcher who focuses on the case 

of Riace, we will explore the transnational aspects 

of the issue. 

 

 

Speakers: 

Disinfaux Collective (Greece) 

Daura Vera Hernandez (Tenerife Antirrumores, 

Spain) 

Fulvia Teano (researcher, sinistra xxi, Italy) 

 

 

Moderation: 

Katerina Anastasiou (transform! europe) 

 

 

Publications 

 

February 2020 

 

https://youtu.be/HTjKFIYZVQg
https://youtu.be/HTjKFIYZVQg
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Monteiro, Hugo; Anastasiou, Katerina. "As 
cores de um êxodo. Crianças e jovens 
refugiados/as nos limites da Europa e dos 
Direitos Humanos". In Direitos das crianças 
interpretados pelos adultos, 163-173. Porto, 
Portugal: Afrontamento, 2020. 
Published 
 
(see article in EN in docs) 

 
 

 

 

 

REPRESENTING EUROPEAN VALUES 
Wiebke Keim / Alexandre Kostka eds. 

 

Euroculture Erasmus Mundus publication 

“Europe can be seen in many ways –  as a 
geographical entity, as a political project, as 
shared cultural heritage, as an idea. 

In each case, the abstract notion is given a 
concrete meaning by a choice, a selection 
of what comes into the gaze of the 
beholder.” 

– the editors 

Young scholars take fresh looks at this 
Europe. Read about: 

“Refugee and Migrant Narratives in 

http://www.triglyph.de/buecher/representing_european_values/
http://www.triglyph.de/buecher/representing_european_values/
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Creative Arts” +++ Colours of Journey 
member, 

“Europeanness as Lifestyle” 

“Statelessness in Europe” 

“Transnational Identities in the Making” 

“The Politics of Image Management” 

“The Europeanisation of National 
Educational Curricula” 

and more interesting topics. 

 
 

 

Status: in graphic design  
Proofreading : done  

 
Find the publications final draft here 

Cooperation with Sinistra xx1, research 
project on the case of Riace and its 

European dimensions 
 

Title: Global compact vs. local impact  
The self-valorisation of migrant labour: 

Riace as a paradigm? 
 
 
Summary:  
In this publication we present four specific 
position papers, which are the base of the 
research project “Global compact vs. local 
impact. The self-valorisation of migrant 
labour: Riace as a paradigm?” promoted by 
Sinistra XXI with the support of transform! 
europe. 

It concerns the migration phenomenon in 
relation to the Italian Government’s policies 
about three international and European 
fields: the non-signature of the Global 
Compact for Safe, Orderly, and Regular 
Migration agreement; the securitarian 
management of the migration crisis; the 
toxic narrative regarding migration which is 
focused on the alternative hospitality 
experiences. 

https://drive.google.com/file/d/1hhiInS9E__33AFUJSX56q_TNYQWkVvop/view?usp=sharing
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Authors:  
Alessandro Tedde 

Lawyer and jurist, became interested in 
constitutional law when he graduated from 
the University of Sassari. He then furthered 
his studies as a student at the "Silvano 
Tosi" Seminar of Parliamentary Studies and 
Research at the University of Florence. He 
is currently attending the PhD in European 
Union Law and National Legal Systems at 
the University of Ferrara, where he is 
working on the theme of democratic and 
social reform of the European treaties. 
Founder of the think tank Sinistra XXI, he is 
the author of different studies analysing the 
migration phenomenon from a legal 
perspective. 

Andrea Devoto 
 
Graduated in Law at the University of 
Sassari, has attended the school of 
specialisation for legal professions at the 
University "La Sapienza" of Rome. He is a 
lawyer and mainly operates in criminal and 
immigration law. 
 
 
Francesco Nurra 
 
Graduated in Historical and Oriental 
Sciences at the University of Bologna, is 
currently undertaking a PhD in Urban and 
Regional Development at the Polytechnic 
University of Turin. He also took part in the 
specialization course in Critical Theory at 
the University of Milano Bicocca. 
 
 
Fulvia Teano 
Graduated from a Bachelor in Social 
Sciences at Glasgow Caledonian University 
and a Master's Degree in International 
Security Studies at Scuola Superiore 
Sant'Anna (Pisa) and University of Trento, 
works as an IT security analyst for NTT 
Data Italia. Her research focus concerns 
primarily the study of fake news regarding 
migration and the role of government and 
civil society organizations in combating 
xenophobia and racism in the media. 
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e) Far and Populist Right- facilitators Giuseppe Cugnata, Gala Kabbaj - Espaces Marx 

 

January 2020:  

Report Erasmus + Ka2 application “Reversing Revisionism” project (see folder) 

 

February 2020:  

1st note on European Electoral Survey “Towards an ideological tripartition of European 

Politics” (see folder) 

 

April 21, 2020: 

webinar on climate protests and ecological subjectivation “Making sense of Climate 

movement” with Gala Kabbaj and Giuseppe Cugnata (see PPT presentation in the folder) 

 

May 8, 2020: 

webinar on the findings of the European Electoral Survey “Key features of the ideological 

and electoral reconfiguration in the European political field” with Antoine de Cabanes and 

Pablo Livigni (see PPT presentation in the folder) 

 

June 2020: 

2nd note on European Electoral Survey “Understanding ideological and electoral 

consequences of the labour market’s reconfiguration in Europe” (see folder) 

 

July 2020 

article for the website: “The Elections and the Pandemic. The French Municipal Elections 

2020” :  

 

September 2020 

3rd note on European Electoral Survey “Which social spaces for far-right parties: a 

comparative electoral analysis in France and Germany” To be published  

 

November 2020: 

 

 

International Conference “Neofascism, post-fascism and the 

new far-rights - a global scale vision”, organised by Cultra 

(member organisation of transform! europe). 

This conference took place on line and was live broadcasted 

through the Facebook of Cultra: panel one, panel two, panel 

three and panel four. 

https://www.transform-network.net/en/blog/article/the-elections-and-the-pandemic-the-french-municipal-elections-2020/
https://www.facebook.com/298163613568774/videos/482950379336219
https://www.facebook.com/298163613568774/videos/663888570977622
https://www.facebook.com/298163613568774/videos/410300673343749
https://www.facebook.com/298163613568774/videos/410300673343749
https://www.facebook.com/298163613568774/videos/813484552767564
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March 2021: Note: The Populist radical Right as a Class Vote?  

 

f) Central and Eastern Europe Strategy (CEE) - facilitator Dagmar Švendová. 

A. Actions 

2020 January 21st - 22nd: 

Meetings in the European Parliament with GUE/NGL Czech Delegation. 

 

2020 February 18th - 19th: 

- Coordination Meeting in European Parliament in preparation of planned event of 

GUE/NGL - Media Workshop, event CANCELLED.  

- Meeting with MEP Helmut Scholz (GUE/NGL) on CEE matters. 

- European Left Preparatory Group of European Left Forum, European Parliament 

- Coordination Meeting with transform! representant in Brussels on common projects 

 

2020 April 25th - 26th: 

Conference in Prague CANCELED due to COVID-19 

instead 2 days Webinars were held with title Prague/ 

European Spring 2020 organised in cooperation 

with Prague Spring 2,  UNITED for Intercultural 

Action, Alliance for Labour and Solidarity 

(Spojenectví práce a solidarity – SpaS), International 

Young Naturefriends (IYNF), Young European 

Environmentalists (YEE) and Organizers for the Left 

(A Szervezök A Baloldalért – SzAB) with support of 

transform! Europe on an internationalistic answer to 

the corona crisis and Stopping repression against 

movements in Russia, Ukraine and the EU. This is a 

contribution to making peoples movements in Europe 

coming together responding to immediate challenges 

as a stepping stone towards World Social Forum in 

Mexico 2021. Online. 

 
Webinars here 

 

 

https://www.transform-network.net/webinars/detail/?tx_news_pi1%5Bnews%5D=9079&cHash=d4859679671f95f6110934b1aefc2a5d
https://www.transform-network.net/webinars/detail/?tx_news_pi1%5Bnews%5D=9079&cHash=d4859679671f95f6110934b1aefc2a5d
https://www.transform-network.net/webinars/detail/?tx_news_pi1%5Bnews%5D=9079&cHash=d4859679671f95f6110934b1aefc2a5d
https://www.transform-network.net/webinars/detail/?tx_news_pi1%5Bnews%5D=9079&cHash=d4859679671f95f6110934b1aefc2a5d
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2020 June 16th: 

Webinar of the series “Meeting the Left” - interview 

with Luka Mesec, MP and Coordinator of the 

Slovenian Levica (The Left), moderated by Walter 

Baier , Dagmar Švendová and Angelina 

Giannopoulou. 

 

 

 

2020 July: 

Left Political School of Activism or Summer School 

organised by Institute for Critique and Social 

Emancipation and Organizata Politike with support of 

transform! europe. 

 

The aim of  Summer School is to educate the 

activists or people who have been engaged in 

organizing and mobilizing to become activists. The 

target group are mostly Social Sciences students, or 

even from other departments which somehow have 

shown interest in politics, history and economics. 

There are almost 30-40 participants.  

 

This project is a continuation of the previous summer 

schools and other lectures held in the social centre 

“Logu i Shkëndijes” , triggering activists’ critical 

thinking and active participation in a more systematic 

way.  

 

 

 

2020 July 1st-10th: 

https://www.transform-network.net/webinars/detail/?tx_news_pi1%5Bnews%5D=9276&cHash=1590b6cf0b76d11bc0b2a2187ee0451d
https://www.transform-network.net/webinars/detail/?tx_news_pi1%5Bnews%5D=9276&cHash=1590b6cf0b76d11bc0b2a2187ee0451d
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Workshop of Balkan Society for Theory and Practice 

[BSTP] organised with support of transform! europe 

on Race and Racism in the Balkans, in Prishtina, 

Kosova, focus on the unique processes of 

racialization, ethnicization, and Othering particular to 

the Balkan region.  

CANCELLED  

 

 

2020 July 1st: 

CEE Media Strategy Cooperation Meeting - evaluation and coordination of our activities, 

debate on possible further development.  

 

2020 July 17th: 

Web Interview of the series “Meeting the Left” - 

interview with Vojtěch Filip, Chairman of the KSČM, 

MP of Czech Communist Party and Vice President of 

the Chamber of Deputies, moderated by Walter Baier 

and Barbara Steiner. 

 

 

2020 September: 

CEE Working Group Meeting on Situation in Belarus - internal ZOOM meeting with invited 

guests. 

 

2020 October 13th: 

Web Interview of the series “Meeting the Left” - 

interview with Katarina Peović, Croatian MP of 

Možemo (Radnička Fronta), moderated by Walter 

Baier and Dagmar Švendová. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

https://www.transform-network.net/calendar/event/cancelled-race-and-racism-in-the-balkans/
https://www.transform-network.net/webinars/detail/?tx_news_pi1%5Bnews%5D=9329&cHash=3e892f63fb19c4a6030fd1c37579a8de
https://www.transform-network.net/webinars/detail/?tx_news_pi1%5Bnews%5D=9464&cHash=f931a85b64ceae26bcc7ff2a93599507
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2020 November 14th - 15th:  

European Left CEE Working Group Meeting and Conference in Prague, CZ. CANCELED 

 

2020 November: 

Conference "Pohlady zlava" - "Left outlook" organised by Front of the Left Youth and Young 

Social Democrats in Slovakia with support of transform!. CANCELED due to COVID-19  

 

2020 December 5th - 6th: 

 

International Conference Prague/ European Spring 

2020 organised in cooperation with Prague Spring 2,  

UNITED for Intercultural Action, Alliance for Labour 

and Solidarity (Spojenectví práce a solidarity – SpaS), 

International Young Naturefriends (IYNF), Young 

European Environmentalists (YEE) and Organizers for 

the Left (A Szervezök A Baloldalért – SzAB) with 

support of transform! europe on climate justice and 

peace, discussing social and environmental 

alternatives and answering the multidimensional crisis. 

Online. 

 
Webinar- Day1: 
https://youtu.be/8veVVyWUfmc 
 
Webinar- Day2: 
https://youtu.be/b5AwuRki7QE 

 

 

 

2020 December 

SK educational workshops for young activists, IT literacy, writing skills, social media, 

communication organised by Front of the Left Youth, Slovakia with support of transform!. 

CANCELED due to COVID-19  

 

A. Research  

2020 June - December: 

 

Hundred Shades of the European Union. 
- Mapping the Political Economy of the euro 

peripheries. 
 

Transform! europe and the Rosa-Luxemburg-Stiftung 
have launched preparation of a long-term study into the 
socio-economic and political comprehensive 
understanding of the complex European Union 
peripheries, from different perspectives and with the use 
of comparative analysis. 

This study aims to constitute a relevant tool for the 
discussion of the future of "European integration" and to 
provide an informed basis for building appropriate radical 

In 2020:  
Preparation, Conception and 
data collection was conducted 
by Junior Research Team  
 
Call for Tenders 
Project Description 
 
 

https://www.transform-network.net/calendar/event/a-european-spring-is-necessary-europeanprague-spring-2020/
https://www.transform-network.net/calendar/event/a-european-spring-is-necessary-europeanprague-spring-2020/
https://youtu.be/8veVVyWUfmc
https://youtu.be/b5AwuRki7QE
https://www.transform-network.net/blog/article/call-for-tenders-1-hundred-shades-of-the-european-union-mapping-the-political-economy-of-the-euro/
https://www.transform-network.net/fileadmin/user_upload/projectdescription_hundred_shades_of_the_european_union_28-09-2020.pdf
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left policies, both at the national and European Union 
levels. Ultimately, this research project will also 
represent a tool for building and fostering cooperation 
strategies between both regions, promoting coordinated 
action by European left-wing organisations and political 
representations. 

The process of integrating countries into the European 
Union has led, over the past decades, to the emergence 
of two major peripheral regions: the so-called "old 
periphery" – which encompasses the countries of 
Southern Europe (SE) – and the "new periphery", which 
includes the countries of Central and Eastern Europe 
(CEE). These two regions will be the subject of our 
comparative analyses.  

In the first stage of the project in 2020 the research 
focused on data package collection which will be used in 
further steps. 

In the second stage of the project we will prepare two 
maps of peripherality, producing two comparative 
analyses for the SE countries and CEE countries, by 
focusing on groups of data as a criterion for intraregional 
comparison. Lastly, we aim to develop a comparative 
analysis between these two regions, which will improve 
and deepen the knowledge of one another, since where 
there is weak (or no) knowledge, there cannot be any 
good policy.  

 

 

2020 January - December 

 

Political and electoral behaviour of supporters 

of the radical left, CZ sociological study.  

 

Study was conducted by SPED (Society for European 

Dialogue), Institute of the Czech Left and KSV (Social 

Sciences Club) with support of transform! Europe 

 

Study consists of five parts. The first part indicates 

overall position of the left-wing parties among the 

general public from 2018, the second part is dedicated 

to the positions of left-wing entities in the 2019 

European Parliament elections, the third part looks at 

the results of the left-wing parties in the 2020 country 

elections and post-election situation, the fourth part 

analyses voter profiles left-wing parties towards the 

end of 2020, the fifth part offers possible scenarios for 

Study was published in Czech 
with English executive summary. 
 
 
 

http://library.institutcl.cz/Chovani_priznivcu_radikalni_levice.pdf
http://library.institutcl.cz/Chovani_priznivcu_radikalni_levice.pdf
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further developments and some the situation of the 

radical left in Europe (more specifically within the EU).  

 

Furthermore, from other analytical material or from the 

meetings of expert seminars, e.g. the Democratic 

Academy (MDA) and the final Transform research 

report. Methodologically, data from national public 

research was used to prepare the report opinion 

implemented by CVVM in 2018-2020 and other 

research institutions (MEDIAN, STEM, KANTAR), 

Czech Statistical Office data from European elections 

parliament in 2019 and regional elections since 2000, 

and research into the views of left-minded people 

implemented by the Social Sciences Club in 

September 2020. 

 

 

B. Education  

2020 January - December 

 

Website Platform: ”Five Beers? No, thanks!”  
conceptualized by the Fundacja Naprzód (PL) and 
supported by transform! europe.  
 
This belongs to the civic education website category.  
The platform runs in Polish language for providing 
information and resources for people already involved 
in the anti-fascist movement or are sympathetic to it 
and would like to learn more.  
 
Various materials such as the brochure and films, 
helping those drawn to the anti-fascist movement to 
improve their knowledge and gain information about 
current activities are used. Apart from basic information 
on the threats of fascism and films with already active 
anti-fascist activists, we have included graphics, 
posters and recommendations for films, performances, 
and music. We want this website to feature more 
cultural content and to increasingly be created by 
people from the younger generation.  
 
The aim is to create a friendly and interactive website 
for young people who want to take initiatives to get 
involved in building an open society, sensitive to 
various forms of discrimination and harm. We want 
those coming to our website to feel that they are not 
alone and to find information on initiatives undertaken 
by various NGOs and informal groups.  

 
http://www.5piw.edu.pl 

 
The name of the project has been 
chosen, as around a decade ago a 
group of well-known represen- 
tatives of the extreme nationalist 
right in Poland were pictured giving 
a Nazi salute. 
 
This photo was published in a 
Polish national newspaper and 
when asked about it by journalists 
they answered that they were 
simply ordering ‘five beers’.  
 
In response we categorically say 
‘FIVE BEERS? NO THANKS!’  
 
The slogan also highlights how 
some who propagate fascist 
ideology pretend not to do so and 
that it is necessary to educate 
young people how to recognise 
fascist ideas and organisations as 

http://www.5piw.edu.pl/
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Cooperation with other non-government organisations 
and reaching young people is therefore envisaged.  
 
This first component is linked to the second one  - 
educational initiative “Watch Out”, see below. 

well as their dangers. 

Online educational initiative “Watch-Out”, 
conceptualized by the ‘NEVER AGAIN’ Association and 
the Fundacja Naprzód (PL), supported by transform! 
europe.  
 
This website focuses on developing new educational 
materials, which can be used in schools and by non-
governmental organizations whose aim is to strengthen 
the civic society by e.g. organizing training courses, 
seminars, workshops, and other artistic activities for 
youth. We gave up interactivity here to increase its role 
in e-learning, which is more and more important in our 
everyday reality. This platform runs in Polish and 
English languages. 
 
There are seven mini-lectures on the website reminding 
you of what fascism led to and about its threat. After 
listening to the lectures, the student / teacher / educator 
can use the auxiliary questions on the discussed topic 
and read the answers sent by the lecturers. All material 
in this section is annotated in English or translated.  
 
The format of these lessons is a half an hour 
presentation, which is supplemented with additional 
Q/A concerning the lessons. Additionally, some 
selected materials could be also of use for 
English/Polish language as Foreign language teaching 

 
http://kuprzestrodze.edu.pl 

KU PRZESTRODZE (Watch-Out)  

 
Examples of the topics/lectures 
covered at the launch: 

● What lesson should we 
learn from history, 

● Genocide, 
● Psychology of Nazism, 
● Fascist model of family,  
● Forced labour, 
● Pedagogy of 

remembrance, 
● Racism and slavery in 

USA. 

http://kuprzestrodze.edu.pl/


transform! Activity report 2020 – Q1 2021  51 

courses as well – special materials, based on the 
materials from the mini-lectures. The website offers 
lesson plans in history, social studies and educational 
lessons which are closely related to the Polish core 
curriculum, these will not be translated to English.  
 
Content of this Website would be enriched by 2 or 3 
new lectures/lessons given by academics every year.  

 

 

C. CEE Media Cooperation Strategy and Publications 

CEE Media Cooperation has been pursued since 2019 when the first formalised cooperation 

with selected CEE Media was established with the aim to enhance information flow, increase 

transform! europe’s visibility and boost its outreach in the respective CEE region gaining new 

partners and contacts for various projects and activities of our Network. 

Facilitation, coordination and editorial work was executed through transform! europe. In 2020 

the cooperation with diverse Website Media platforms, Journals and Newspapers was further 

developed (see below). 
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Main Media cooperation in CEE: 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
Be-friended Media: 

 
 

 
 

 

časopis !argument, OVIA,CZ, Website platform 

BALMIX - transform! hungary, Közép-Európai 

Fejlesztési Egyesület,HU, Website platform  

 Eszmélet, Eszmélet Sajtó Alapítvány,HU, Journal 

 Nazse Argumenty, Fundacja Naprzód,PL, Journal 

Lūžis, DEMOS Institute of Critical Thought, LT, 

Magazine 

Publishing House "Baricada", BG, RO Website 

platforms and EN language mutation:                                  

http://baricada.org/, https://ro.baricada.org/, 

https://en.baricada.org/. 

 

Bilten, Regionalni Portal, CR, publishing in Serbo-

Croatian 

Haló noviny, CZ, Daily Newspaper  

Mašina, RS, Website Portal,  

Transform! Europe has supported through its CEE Media Cooperation Strategy creation of 

two new leftists outlets: 

In Poland: Fundacja Naprzód (tr! Member’s Organisation), supported by transform! Europe, 

have launched the Nasze Argumenty (Our Arguments) Journal. Released quarterly. 
 
The goal is to initiate dialogue between various left-wing environments. It aims to ensure that 
elements of the socialist programme are present in political discourse. Presenting information 
and news and opinions from Poland, the EU and the World.  
 

In 2020, four issues have been realised each dedicated to its own focus: Recover History. 
Time for leftist Feminism. Faces of the Pandemic. Humankind and Religion. 
 
Selected transform! eurpe’s events and publications were promoted through this Journal as 
well as texts from within transform! production has been re-published here. 

http://casopisargument.cz/
https://balmix.hu/hu/
https://balmix.hu/hu/
https://www.eszmelet.hu/
https://www.eszmelet.hu/
http://fundacja-naprzod.pl/index.php/wydawnictwa/nasze-argumenty
http://fundacja-naprzod.pl/
https://www.facebook.com/zurnalasluzis/
https://www.facebook.com/Demos-Institute-of-Critical-Thought-165339193513657
http://baricada.org/
https://ro.baricada.org/
https://en.baricada.org/
https://www.bilten.org/
http://halonoviny.cz/
https://www.masina.rs/
http://fundacja-naprzod.pl/
http://fundacja-naprzod.pl/index.php/wydawnictwa/nasze-argumenty
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In Lithuania: DEMOS Institute of Critical Thought, supported by transform! europe, have 
launched the Lūžis (Fracture) Magazine. Released twice a year.  
 
Lūžis is one of the rare left-wing magazines in Lithuania edited by progressive academics, 
political activists and trade unionists from Vilnius and Kaunas. 
 
Selected transform! eurpe’s events and publications were promoted through this Magazine as 
well as texts from within transform! production has been re-published here. 

 

 

Executing the CEE Media Cooperation Strategy has significantly contributed to outreach of 

transform! and its visibility in this region by increased sharing, re-publishing of articles and 

Webinars in multiple Central Eastern European languages, namely: Czech, Polish, 

Bulgarian, Romanian, Lithuanian,Hungarian, Serbo-Croatian and partly Russian.  

 

By doing so transform! europe has boosted the dialogue and regular exchange with the CEE 

Media Partners, creating new original content, gaining new contacts and exploring 

possibilities for further cooperation and more importantly, a new communication channel was 

created that allows also a promotion of our events, publication, calls for support and 

solidarity actions, petition etc. We have also enriched our Website content by more news and 

information from the CEE region. 

 

Brief statistics:  

●   3 ePapers published in BG, RO; 

● 12 Yearbook 2020 “Europe in Brave New World” re-published in some of these 

languages BG, RO, CZ, HU, PL, LT and EN and the Yearbook was promoted through 

our partners’ communication channels; 

● 11 Webinars were subtitled in some of these languages BG, RO, CZ, PL or HU;  

https://www.facebook.com/Demos-Institute-of-Critical-Thought-165339193513657
https://www.facebook.com/zurnalasluzis/
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● over 40 texts originally published by transform! europe were picked by our CEE 

Media Partners and re-published in one or more CEE languages. 

● Finally our content was also re-published or promoted in Serbia through our Member 

Organization CPE and befriended leftist website portal Maśina as well as we 

supported Serbo-Croatian Publication. 

 

Additionally, various ePapers, Books, eBooks and other publications focusing on CEE were 

published in cooperation with our partners (see point 1. The media and publication activities). 

To see the whole spectrum  of texts published on transform! Website related to the CEE 

region please refer to  transform! Website, tags Central and Eastern Europe). 

 

D. Others 
Cooperation with other transform Facilitators on diverse Core Projects, namely: 

- Productive transformation. Economy. 

- Global Strategy. 

- Fight against the Far Right. Antirasism. Antifascism. 

- Left Strategy. 

- Marxism Feminism. 

- Commons. 

 

Activities within the Editorial Board of transform! Yearbook 2020 -2021 edition. 

 

 

 

g) Cooperation of the south - facilitator Tatiana Moutinho 

  

2020 April 25th and 30th, May 1st 

Desobedoc  

Due to the pandemic, this year’s Desobedoc edition was 

staged online, between the 25th of april and the 1st of may. 

Three movies were streamed through our networks 

(Desobedoc’s facebook page and esquerda.net), followed by 

debates with invited speakers 

  

 

2020 October 2nd, 3r and 4th 

MICAR 

The International Anti-Racist film festival is taking place from 

the 2nd to the 4th of october in Porto (Portugal) with a 

shorter programme (and a smaller audience than the usual), 

given the current public health rules.  

 

h) Commons Working group - facilitator Roberto Morea 

2020  May 19th 

The health system as a common good and the fight 

against big pharma in the world 

https://www.transform-network.net/tags/central-and-eastern-europe/
https://www.transform-network.net/publications/yearbook/
https://desobedoc.wordpress.com/
https://www.facebook.com/desobedoc
https://www.esquerda.net/artigo/desobedoc-2020-o-cinema-insubmisso-vem-nossa-casa/67353
https://micar.sosracismo.pt/
https://micar.sosracismo.pt/programa-2020/
https://www.transform-network.net/webinars/detail/?tx_news_pi1%5Bnews%5D=9210&cHash=18ebe90de7d8ef692c614fa8e4723424
https://www.transform-network.net/webinars/detail/?tx_news_pi1%5Bnews%5D=9210&cHash=18ebe90de7d8ef692c614fa8e4723424
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2020 may 25th 

The health system as a common good and the fight 

against big pharma – with special regard to Europe. 

The webinar is available at transform’s youtube channel. 

 

 

2020 june 8th 

Commons vs. "Normality". Global Capitalism, Commodity 

Chains and Migration after Covid-19 

The webinar is available at transform’s youtube channel 

 

 

 

2020 june 30th  

Commons as Political Project: Commons and Just 

Transition in Our Times 

Webinar at the World Social Forum of Transformative Economies 

(Transformadora).  

The webinar is available at transform’s youtube channel 

 

 

2020 july 15th 

A Basic Income across Europe: Are you kidding me? 

The webinar is available at transform’s youtube channel 

 

  

 

 

 

i)     Christian - Socialist Dialogue 

03 November 2020 

Webinar From Laudato sí to Fratelli tutti 

Christians and Marxists in dialogue on the encyclicals of Pope Francis – remarkable also 

from a left point of view. Watch the full video 

 

20 November 2020 

Webinar Christian-Marxist Dialogue on Achieving Ecological Ecumenism 

To many leftists, the idea of an alliance between Christians and socialists appears eccentric. 

However, not-withstanding the differences, important similarities can be found. In his latest 

https://www.transform-network.net/calendar/event/from-laudato-si-to-fratelli-tutti/
https://www.transform-network.net/calendar/event/christian-marxist-dialogue-on-achieving-ecological-ecumenism/
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encyclical, Pope Francis writes of the need for politics based on human dignity, not subjected 

to the market. Does not this represent the basis for a dialogue? 

 

12 February 2021 

Christian – Socialist Dialogue 

Society in Transition: Role of the Left and the Church in Shaping the Transformation? 

Webinar by transform! europe and the Protestant Academy Bad Boll on the Christian-

Socialist Dialogue. 

 

 

3. Events in cooperation with our member and partner 

organisations 

 

2019 13th December in Paris: 

Public Debate with Thea Riofrancos (Prof.University Philadephia, DSA, Eco-socialist WG) 

and Kate Aranoff (USA, Journalist) 

Espace Marx with transform europe 

 

2020 July 16th: (Roland Kulke as moderator) 

RLS Brussels, book launch online: “Digital Trade Rules - A disastrous new constitution for 

the global economy written by and for Big Tech”, presentation of study from Deborah James, 

OWINFS. 

 

2020 September: 

Volksstimmefest 2020, Austria - CANCELLED due to COVID-19 

 

2020 November - December: 

Studies of Socialism, living wage concept booklet + 2 lecturers, see project proposal, 

organised by Centre for the Politics of Emancipation (CPE), Serbia with support of transform. 

01 -27 September 2020 

The World Transformed 2020 

transform! europe's observer organisation The World Transformed (UK), that hosts the major 

political festival of the British left every year in September, goes digital! 

 

16 September 2020 

Transform! Danmark Webinar and face-to-face meeting 

Evaluating EU’s Green Deal and Recovery Plan - why do they not meet the climate goals? Is 

the Green New Deal an alternative? 

17 Oct 2020 transform.at: 100 years of constitution (Vienna) 

 

19 October 2020 

XIII edition of the Lluís Companys Race and Walk 

https://www.transform-network.net/calendar/event/society-in-transition-role-of-the-left-and-the-church-in-shaping-the-transformation/
https://www.transform-network.net/calendar/event/the-world-transformed-2020/
https://www.transform-network.net/calendar/event/evaluating-eus-green-deal-and-recovery-plan-why-do-they-not-meet-the-climate-goals-is-the-green/
https://www.transform-network.net/calendar/event/evaluating-eus-green-deal-and-recovery-plan-why-do-they-not-meet-the-climate-goals-is-the-green/
https://www.transform-network.net/calendar/event/evaluating-eus-green-deal-and-recovery-plan-why-do-they-not-meet-the-climate-goals-is-the-green/
https://www.transform-network.net/blog/article/xiii-edition-of-the-lluis-companys-race-and-walk/?tx_news_pi1%5Bfocus%5D=&cHash=2fd5ee7a7f6d48039c270fa36f81cf8c
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The Lluís Companys Race and Walk, is a project of the Catalan member organization of 

transform! Fundació l’Alternativa. 

 

 

23 February 2021 

Webinar: A Contribution to the Critique of Political Economy of Digital Capitalism 

In his lecture Christian Fuchs addresses the question of what digital capitalism is and why it 

should be criticised. A webinar organised by transform.at and transform! europe. Watch the 

full video. 

 

February - May 2020 

I25m Spain: Online International Political 

Training Course. “Challenges of the post-

pandemic militancy”  

https://www.formacion2021.com/ 

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=NquTeWm

LFbg  

 

 

4. Activities in cooperation with the EL 

 

EL-transform! Summer University: Tatiana, Angelina, Roberto members of the common 

working group.  SU CANCELLED due to covid.  

 

 

08 -28 November 2020 

European Forum of Left, Green and Progressive 

Forces 2020 

The Covid-19 Pandemic Challenges Humanity: 

Refounding a Europe of Solidarity! — transform! 

europe at the European Forum 

 

 

 
In cooperation with the  EL Culture network: Webinar 

Support Art Workers  

During the days of the lockdown the need to 

bridge the social distance and to feel united 

has been expressed many times by singing or 

playing from the balconies and terraces of the 

buildings in which we have been forced, 

demonstrating how essential expression and 

communication are for individual and social life. 

 

https://www.transform-network.net/webinars/detail/?tx_news_pi1%5Bnews%5D=9662&cHash=d6bc51b78f2dbe091b4b57fa983c22b9
https://www.formacion2021.com/
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=NquTeWmLFbg
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=NquTeWmLFbg
https://www.transform-network.net/calendar/event/the-covid-19-pandemic-challenges-humanity-refounding-a-europe-of-solidarity-transform-europe-at/
https://www.transform-network.net/calendar/event/the-covid-19-pandemic-challenges-humanity-refounding-a-europe-of-solidarity-transform-europe-at/
https://www.transform-network.net/calendar/event/the-covid-19-pandemic-challenges-humanity-refounding-a-europe-of-solidarity-transform-europe-at/
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https://www.transform-

network.net/webinars/detail/?tx_news_pi1%5Bnews%5D=9363&cHash=2358f0ae35d

30e2b97d352cca39f03bd 

 

5. International cooperations, participation to movements 

 

 

Participation to preparatory meetings of #ESU22, European Summeruniversity of 

attac 

 

23 -31 January 2021 

 

 

Another World is Possible 

transform! at the Virtual World Social Forum 

2021 
20 years after the first World Social Forum was held in Porto Alegre, 

Brazil, in the midst of the pandemic the Forum will be held virtually. 

 

 

22 February 2021-03 March 2021 

 

Cycle of Political Debates 

Progressive Solutions for the 

Pandemic 
For the first time, political foundations and centers for 

political training for have joined efforts to discuss left 

and progressive solutions and ways out of the crisis we 

live in. 

 

 

 

6. transform! being invited and represented at 

conferences and workshops 

2020 January 21st - 22nd: 

https://www.transform-network.net/calendar/event/transform-at-the-virtual-world-social-forum-2021/
https://www.transform-network.net/calendar/event/transform-at-the-virtual-world-social-forum-2021/
https://www.transform-network.net/calendar/event/progressive-solutions-for-the-pandemic/
https://www.transform-network.net/calendar/event/progressive-solutions-for-the-pandemic/
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Participation in EU Space Policy Conference in Brussels, Belgium.  

 

2020 June 6th:  

Planning conference of the Working Group on Alternative Economic Policy (Germany), short 

lecture by Roland Kulke on current developments on industrial policy in the European Union 

 

2020 August 20th: (Roland Kulke as panelist, in Valence) 

Summer University of La France Insoumise. Panel Discussion on Eco-socialism 

 

 

2020 September: 

Horany Island Festival, Hungary - CANCELLED due to COVID-19 

 

28 September 2020 

Rise of Right Wing Populism, Authoritarianism, Fascism 

Walter Baier, Board member and former Political Coordinator of transform! europe, 

participates in the webinar with Bill Fletcher, Jr., Sangeeta Kamat and Tarso Ramos 

 

06 - 07 February 2021 

Online Conference EL and SKP: Shorter Working Time - Helsinki Seminar 

 
18 March 2021 

Webinar Rosa Luxemburg + Gabriel Perí Foundation  

150 Years Paris Commune  

 

 

7. Administration 

·         Members’ meeting - General assembly 24/25 Sept2020 via Zoom. New co- and 

vice presidents are elected  

·        Extraordinary Network meeting 13 May (+ technical support session), 4 June, 2 

July, 16/17 November 

  Monthly meetings of the board and staff via Zoom, from March 2020 to July 2020 

bi-monthly due to exceptional Corona situation 

·         Board Conclave in Vienna (Jan20) and via zoom: June 2020, Oct2020, Jan2021 

·         Facilitators’ meeting in Vienna Jan20, debriefing of board meetings (monthly) 

·         Auditing by Ernest & Young in Vienna in March2020 

·         Participation to information meetings invited by DG Fins in Brussels 

·         Meeting of the editorial board of the yearbook, Jan, Vienna and via zoom 

https://www.spaceconference.eu/
https://www.transform-network.net/calendar/event/rise-of-right-wing-populism-authoritarianism-fascism/
https://www.transform-network.net/calendar/event/shorter-working-time-helsinki-seminar/
https://www.transform-network.net/calendar/event/150-years-paris-commune/
https://www.transform-network.net/blog/article/transform-europe-election-of-co-presidents/?tx_news_pi1%5Bfocus%5D=&cHash=6c6d7065d446a417695aec530efe3192
https://www.transform-network.net/blog/article/transform-europe-election-of-co-presidents/?tx_news_pi1%5Bfocus%5D=&cHash=6c6d7065d446a417695aec530efe3192
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·         Participation to the EL ExBoard meeting, Berlin (Jan20), June, Oct 
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